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Translated from original in Russian 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

 

To the Shareholder and Supervisory Board of Joint Stock Company Natixis Bank. 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying annual financial statements of Natixis Bank JSC (“Bank”), 
which comprise  

the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019,  

the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year 2019, 

the statement of changes in equity for the year 2019, 

the statement of cash flows for the year 2019, 

and notes to the annual financial statements, including summary of significant accounting policies, 
for the year 2019. 

In our opinion, the accompanying annual financial statements presents fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Natixis Bank JSC as at December 31, 2019, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements section of our report.  

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with applicable in the Russian Federation Auditor’s 
and Audit organization’s Independence Rules and Auditor’s Code of Professional Ethics, adopted 
in accordance with the Federal Law № 307-FZ «On audit activity» dated December 30, 2008 and 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
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Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were reviewed in 
context of our audit of financial statement in a whole and during formation of audit opinion about 
this financial statement, and we do not express separate opinion for these matters. 

An allowance for expected credit losses on loans to customers and credit related 
commitments 

We have focused on this issue due to the materiality of loans to customers and credit related 
commitments to the Bank's financial position, as well as the significance of professional judgments 
and estimates required to calculate the related the allowance. 

The allowance represents management's best estimate of losses incurred on loans to customers and 
credit related commitments at the reporting date. 

Individual allowances are calculated on an individual basis for all loans to customers and credit 
related commitments. Such provisions require professional judgment to determine when an 
impairment event occurred and then estimate the expected future cash flows associated with such 
loans. 

We evaluated the main methods developed for calculating the allowances in accordance with IFRS 
9 “Financial Instruments” (hereinafter - IFRS 9) for their compliance with the requirements of 
IFRS 9. 

We have gained understanding and assessed for reasonableness the key judgments, assumptions 
and calculations made by management to assess their impact on the allowances in accordance with 
IFRS 9. 

We also analyzed whether the information disclosed in the annual financial statements properly 
reflects the Bank's exposure to credit risk on loans to customers and credit related commitments 
(Notes 9, 22 and 23 of notes to the annual financial statements). 

Valuation of derivative financial instruments 

We have focused on this matter, as it is an area of significance of professional judgments and 
estimates required for such valuation derivative financial instruments. Current financial markets 
are volatile, and Bank`s financial position on derivative financial instruments is significant. So, 
valuation of financial derivative instruments can significantly affect financial position and 
performance of the Bank.  
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We have performed estimation and tested (on a sample basis) the management of control methods 
in respect to valuation of derivative financial instruments. These control methods include controls 
on input data, transfer of input data to models and output data to accounting system, and controls 
on calculation of valuation. The purpose of our procedures was to get an assurance, that we can 
rely on these control methods for the purposes of our audit. 

We performed detailed testing (on a sample basis) of transferring data on derivative financial 
instruments to models and evaluation results from models to accounting. 

We have also analyzed, whether information disclosed in the annual financial statements, properly 
reflects the valuation of fair value of derivative financial instruments (Notes 6, 22, 23 and 24 of 
notes to the annual financial statements). 

Emphasis of matter  

We draw attention to the note 26 of the notes to the annual financial statements, which describes 
the information on significant increase of the Bank’s operations with the parent Bank in the year 
2019.  

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.     

Responsibilities of Management and Supervisory Board of the Bank for the Annual Financial 
Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these annual financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of annual 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Supervisory Board of the Bank are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
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not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

a) identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.  

b) obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.  

c) evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

d) conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the annual financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 

e) evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

We communicate with Supervisory Board of the Bank regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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From the matters communicated with Supervisory Board of the Bank, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the annual financial statements of the current period 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 
 
 
 
 
Auditor              K. V. Iftodii 
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 Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
    
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1 553 055 1 157 794 
Minimum reserve deposits with the Central Bank of the Russian 

Federation  288 302 155 009 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and spot 

transactions 6 15 806 408 509 
Financial assets at amortized cost 7 1 709 360 - 
Due from banks 8 11 849 728 12 671 190 
Loans to customers 9 13 952 796 8 355 523 
Property, equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets 10 104 997 15 670 
Other assets 13 112 250 187 263 
Deferred income tax asset 20 - 53 496 
    
    
Total assets  29 586 294 23 004 454 
    
    
Liabilities    
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and spot 

transactions 6 116 553 - 
Due to banks 11 20 457 946  10 693 905 
Customer accounts 12 3 171 817 5 946 237 
Other liabilities 13 147 044 63 307  
Subordinated loan 14 3 456 171 3 881 325 
Deferred income tax liability 20 - 53 496 
    
    
Total liabilities  27 349 531 20 638 270 
    
    
Equity    
Share capital 15 1 153 089 1 153 089 
Share premium  50 367 50 367 
Retained earnings 16 1 033 307 1 162 728 
    
    
Total equity  2 236 763 2 366 184 
    
    
Total liabilities and equity  29 586 294 23 004 454 
    

 
 
 
 
 
A.N. Valyaev  
First Deputy Chairman of the Managing Board 
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 Notes 2019 2018 
    
Interest income 17 679 591 1 142 146 
Interest expense 17 (915 754) (723 120) 
    
    
Net interest income before allowance for impairment losses on 

interest-bearing assets  (236 163) 419 026 
    
(Charge)/ recovery of allowance for impairment losses on interest 

bearing assets 5, 8, 9 (196) 28 220 
    
    
Net interest (expense)/ income  (236 359) 447 246 
    
Net (loss)/ gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss  (35 011) 46 275 
Net gain on foreign exchange operations  633 776 494 699 
Net loss from revaluation of items in foreign currencies  (139 138) (679 924) 
Fee and commission income 18 133 614 88 059 
Fee and commission expense 18 (81 031) (37 641) 
Allowance for impairment of other assets and allowance for credit 
losses on credit related commitments 13 (1 018) (1 067) 
Other income  2 273 1 539 
    
    
Operating income  277 106 359 186 
Payroll and administrative expenses 19 (360 695) (368 836) 
    
    
Loss before income tax  (83 589) (9 650) 
Income tax expense 20 (45 832) (33 290) 
    
    
Net loss for the period  (129 421) (42 940) 
    
    
Comprehensive loss for the period  (129 421) (42 940) 
    

 
 
 
 
 
A.N. Valyaev  
First Deputy Chairman of the Managing Board 
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 Notes Share capital 
 

Share premium 
   

Retained 
earnings 

Total equity 

      
Balance as at December 31, 2017  1 153 089 50 367 1 232 533 2 435 989 
      
      
Effect of the first application of IFRS 

9 as at January 1, 2018 4 - - (26 865) (26 865) 
      
      
Revised balance as at January 1, 

2018 
 

1 153 089 50 367 1 205 668 2 409 124 
Comprehensive loss  - - (42 940) (42 940) 
      
      
Balance as at December 31, 2018  1 153 089 50 367 1 162 728 2 366 184 
      
      
Comprehensive loss  - - (129 421) (129 421) 
      
      
Balance as at December 31, 2019  1 153 089 50 367 1 033 307 2 236 763 
      

 
 
 
 
 
A.N. Valyaev  
First Deputy Chairman of the Managing Board 
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 Notes 2019 2018 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Interest received  643 818 1 174 807 
Interest paid  (930 472) (700 668) 
Income received on foreign exchange operations  1 143 033 53 353 
Income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  (35 011) 32 644 
Commission received  133 536 88 157 
Commission paid  (77 819) (36 334) 
Other operating income received  2 273 1 536 
Personnel and administrative expenses paid  (341 757) (349 853) 
Income taxes (paid)/ received  (42 805) 76 177 
    
    
Cash received from operating activities before changes in 

operating assets and liabilities  494 796 339 819 
    
    Changes in operating assets and liabilities    
Net (increase)/ decrease in minimum reserve deposits with the 

Central Bank of the Russian Federation  (133 293) 30 865 
Net decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - 22 052 
Net decrease/ (increase) in due from banks  415 360 (2 954 679) 
Net increase in loans to customers  (6 553 793) (2 366 276) 
Net increase in financial assets at amortized cost  (1 699 547) - 
Net decrease in other assets  63 466 90 147 
Net increase in due to banks  10 782 370 1 667 382 
Net (decrease)/ increase in customer accounts  (2 721 539) 3 345 490 
Net increase /(decrease) in other liabilities  25 398 (823) 
    
    
Net cash received from operating activities  673 218 173 977 
    
    Cash flows from investing activities    
Acquisition of property and equipment and intangible assets 10 (344) (271) 
    
    
Net cash used in investing activities  (344) (271) 
    
    Cash flows from financing activities    
Cash outflows to settle principal amounts of lease liabilities  (37 876) - 
    
    
Net cash used in financing activities  (37 876) - 
    
    Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (239 873) 309 919 
    
    Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  395 125 483 625 
Cash and cash equivalents at  the beginning of the year 5 1 157 957 674 332 
    
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 1 553 082 1 157 957 
    
 
 
A.N. Valyaev  
First Deputy Chairman of the Managing Board 
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1 Principal activities 

Joint Stock Company “Natixis Bank”, short name Natixis Bank JSC (the “Bank”) is a commercial bank incorporated as 
a joint stock company in 2002. The Bank conducts its business under the banking license for banking operations with 
legal entities and individuals No.3390 issued by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation. The Bank’s primary 
business consists of commercial banking activities to the major corporate clients in the territory of the Russian 
Federation. The Bank holds a license of professional participant in the stock market for the dealing activities. 

The Bank participates in the oblogatory deposit insurance system under the regulation of the State Corporation “Deposit 
Insurance Agency” (the “DIA”). Under the said system, the DIA guarantees reimbursement of the 100% individuals’ 
deposits up to the amount of RUB 1.4 million (the maximum guaranteed payments). Starting 2019 similar guarantees 
apply to legal entities qualifying as small businesses in accordance with legislation of the Russian Federation. During 
2019 and during 2018, the Bank did not work with individuals and small businesses. 

The Bank is a subsidiary of Natixis, a legal entity incorporated under the laws of France (the “Parent Bank”), which holds 
a 100% stake in the Bank’s share capital; control over the activities of the Bank is carried out by the BPCE, which owns 
71% of the capital of the Parent Bank. In the opinion of the Management of the Bank the structure of the shareholders of 
the Bank and of the Parent Bank is such that there is no individual with the ultimate control over the Bank’s activities. 

The Bank’s actual address and the address of registration is: Russian Federation, Moscow, Tsvetnoi boulevard, 2. 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 the Bank has no branches or representative offices. 

 

2 Operating Environment 

The Bank operates primarily in the Russian Federation. Accordingly, the business of the Bank is influenced by the 
economy and financial markets of the Russian Federation, which are characterized by the features of an emerging 
market. The legal, tax and regulatory systems continue to evolve, however, involve a risk of ambiguity in the 
interpretation of their requirements, which are also subject to frequent changes, which together with other legal and 
fiscal barriers creates additional problems for enterprises doing business in the Russian Federation. The country's 
economy is particularly sensitive to oil and gas prices. 

The growth rate of the Russian economy in 2019 slowed amid a tough economic policy and a deteriorating foreign 
economic situation. At the end of 2019, GDP growth was 1.3% compared to 2.5% in 2018. 

Economic growth remained uneven. Industrial production in 2019 increased by 2.3% as compared to 2018, in which 
industry grew by 3.5%. 

The situation on the labor market has improved. The unemployment rate by the end of 2019 fell to 4.6% compared to 
4.8% in December last year. Income of the population was supported by increase of wages. Real accrued wages 
increased by 2.9% against growth by 8.5% in 2018. The growth rate of real disposable incomes of the population 
accelerated to 0.8% after rising 0.1% in 2018. Retail sales turnover in 2019 increased by 1.6%, while in 2018 the 
growth was 2.8%. 

In annual terms, inflation slowed to 3.0% by the end of December 2019 compared to 4.3% in December 2018. At the 
beginning of the year, the prices growth rate remained high due to an increase in VAT from 18% to 20%. However, 
weak economic activity, a good harvest, and a strengthening ruble kept inflation in check. The sharp slowdown in 
price growth allowed the Bank of Russia to lower its key rate by the end of 2019 to 6.25% from 7.75% at the end of 
2018.  

According to the results of 2019, oil prices decreased. The average price of Urals crude oil at the end of 2019 amounted 
to USD 64.3 per barrel compared to USD 69.8 per barrel in 2018. The average price in the fourth quarter of 2019 rose 
to USD 63.4 per barrel against USD 63.2 per barrel in the first quarter of 2019. The average ruble exchange rate in 
the fourth quarter of 2019 strengthened (RUB 63.7 per US dollar) compared to the first quarter of 2019 (RUB 66.0 
per US dollar). 
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2 Operating Environment (continued) 

The current account surplus of the balance of payments of the Russian Federation in 2019 decreased to USD 70.6 
billion (USD 113.5 billion in 2018). The decrease in the surplus is explained by the decrease in world commodity 
prices, the strengthening of the real ruble exchange rate, weak external demand and significant dividend payments. 
Private sector capital outflows totaled USD 26.7 billion, compared with USD 63.0 billion in 2018. The main channel 
of the outflow was the reduction of foreign liabilities of the banking sector. Since the beginning of 2019, the external 
debt of the Russian Federation has increased by USD 26.8 billion to USD 481.5 billion. 

In 2019, the Russian banking sector showed a profit of RUB 2 037.0 billion against RUB 1 345.0 billion a year earlier. 
Profit growth in 2019 was affected by the application of adjustments by the banking sector in accordance with IFRS 9 
and procedures for improving the banking sector under the management of the Banking Sector Consolidation Fund. 
The assets of the banking system in 2019 increased by 5.2% after adjusting for currency revaluation compared to 
2018. The loan portfolio of the banking sector increased by 8.9% due to an increase in loans to non-financial 
organizations and individuals by 4.5% and 18.6%, respectively (adjusted for currency revaluation). 

The situation in the Russian stock markets has improved. According to the results of 2019, the RTS index increased 
by 45% compared to 2018, and the MOEX Russia index increased by 30%. 

International rating agencies have improved forecasts on sovereign credit ratings of the Russian Federation. In 
February 2019, Moody’s upgraded the rating from speculative to investment level Baa3 with a stable outlook. Fitch 
upgraded the rating from BBB- to BBB with a stable outlook. 
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3 Accounting Basis 

Basis of presentation. These financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 
Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 

These financial statements are non-consolidated financial statements of the Bank. 

The Bank maintains its accounting records in accordance with the banking legislation of the Russian Federation 
(“RAS”) and France. These financial statements have been prepared on the base of the Russian statutory accounting 
records and adjusted to conform to IFRS in all material respects. Entered adjustments include certain reclassifications 
to reflect the economic substance of underlying transactions including reclassifications of certain assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses to appropriate items in the statement of financial position and the statement of comprehensive 
income. Accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below. Those policies 
were used consistently for all reporting periods presented in these financial statements (unless stated otherwise).  

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the measurement at fair 
value of certain financial instruments.  

The principle of going concern. These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the principle of a 
continuously operating organization. Using this assertion, the Bank took into account existing intentions, profitability 
of operations, available financial resources and the impact of the current economic situation on the Bank’s activities. 
These financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Bank will continue its operations in the 
foreseeable future. 

Functional currency. Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using the currency that best 
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to the Bank (the “functional 
currency”). The functional currency of the financial statements is the Russian Rouble (RUB). 

 

4 Significant Accounting Policies 

Adoption of new and revised standards.  

Certain new standards and interpretations became effective for the Bank from January 1, 2019. 

IFRS 16 “Leases”. From 1 January 2019 the Bank has adopted IFRS 16 “Leases” issued on 13 January 2016 and 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 

The new standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. All 
leases result in the lessee obtaining the right to use an asset at the start of the lease and, if lease payments are made 
over time, also obtaining financing. Accordingly, IFRS 16 “Leases” eliminates the classification of leases as either 
operating leases or finance leases as was required by IAS 17 “Leases” and, instead, introduces a single lessee 
accounting model. The Bank applied the standard using the modified retrospective method, without restatement of 
comparatives. The Bank recognised right of use assets in amount of RUB 243 788 thousand and related lease liabilities 
as at January 1, 2019. Below is the reconciliation of the contractual liabilities on operating leases to the liabilities in 
accordance with IFRS 16.  



Natixis Bank JSC 
Notes to the financial statements – as at December 31, 2019 and for 2019 year 
(in thousands of Russian Roubles) 
 

15 
 

4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
RUB thousand  January 1, 2019  
Lease payments under operating leases  247 609 
Adjustments to amount of lease commitments:  
Future lease payments under IFRS 16 247 609 
Effect of discounting  (22 279) 
Lease liabilities under IFRS 16  225 330 
Amount of prepayments under lease agreements 18 458 
Right-of-use assets under IFRS 16  243 788 

When assessing lease obligations as of January 1, 2019, the weighted average discount rate applied by the Bank was 
3.2%. The remaining lease term at the date of initial recognition ranged from 3 months to 6.5 years. The Bank defines 
the lease term as a non-cancellable lease period, together with the periods for which the option to extend the lease is 
provided, if there is sufficient confidence that the Bank will exercise this option, and the periods for which the option 
to terminate the lease is provided, if there is sufficient confidence that the Bank will not exercise this option. During 
2019, some contracts were modified, namely, one contract was prolonged, and according to another contract, the 
opinion regarding the likelihood of exercising an option to extend the lease changed. 

Right-of-use assets and Lease liabilities. Starting January 1, 2019, a lease is recognized as an asset in the form of a 
right of use and a corresponding liability on the date that the leased asset is available for use by the Bank. Each rental 
payment is allocated between the liability and financial expenses. Finance costs are recognized in profit or loss over 
the lease term to ensure a constant periodic interest rate on the remaining lease liability for each period. An asset in 
the form of a right of use is amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the terms, useful life of the asset and 
the lease term. 

Right-of-use asets are disclosed within the line “Property, equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets” in the 
statement of financial position, lease obligations are disclosed in the line “Other liabilities” in the statement of financial 
position. Finance expenses are disclosed in the line “Interest expenses” in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, depreciation of right-of-use assets is disclosed in the line “Payroll and Administrative 
expenses” in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The cash outflow on lease obligations 
is disclosed in the “Cash from financing activities” section of the cash flow statement, the cash outflow in respect of 
financial expenses is recorded as part of the “Interest paid” in the cash flow statement. 

Assets and liabilities arising from leases are initially measured at current present value. Lease obligations include the 
net present value of the following lease payments:  

• fixed payments (including direct fixed payments), net of any incentive lease payments receivable on a cancellable 
and non-cancellable operating lease; 

• variable rental payments, which depend on the price index or interest rate; 

• amounts expected to be paid by the lessee under liquidation value guarantees; 

• the exercise price of the purchase option, if the lessee has sufficient confidence in the exercise of this option, and 

• payment of penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the tenant's potential exercise of an 
early termination option. 

Lease payments are discounted using the lessee's interest rate on raising additional borrowed funds, which is the rate 
that the lessee will have to pay in order to raise the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value in a similar 
economic environment with similar conditions for a similar period. 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Right-of-use assets are measured at historical cost, which includes the following components: 

• the amount of the initial value of the lease obligation; 

• any lease payments made on or before the lease commencement date, net of any incentive lease payments 
received; 

• any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and 

• estimated costs of restoration and dismantling. 

Payments related to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized evenly as expenses in profit or 
loss. A short-term lease is a lease with a rental period of twelve months or less. 

There have been no changes in equity due to the adoption of IFRS 16. 

The following amended standards and interpretations became effective for the Bank from 1 January 2019, but did 
not have any material impact on the Bank: 

 IFRIC 23 "Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments" (issued on 7 June 2017 and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).  

 Amendments to IAS 28 “Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures” (issued on 12 October 
2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).  

 Amendments to IAS 19 “Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement” (issued on 7 February 2018 and 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).  

 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 cycle – amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23 
(issued on 12 December 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).  

 

New Accounting Pronouncements 

Certain new standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020 or later, and which the Bank has not early adopted.  

IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts"(issued on 18 May 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2021). IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4, which has given companies dispensation to carry on accounting for 
insurance contracts using existing practices. As a consequence, it was difficult for investors to compare and contrast 
the financial performance of otherwise similar insurance companies. IFRS 17 is a single principle-based standard to 
account for all types of insurance contracts, including reinsurance contracts that an insurer holds. The standard requires 
recognition and measurement of groups of insurance contracts at: (i) a risk-adjusted present value of the future cash 
flows (the fulfilment cash flows) that incorporates all of the available information about the fulfilment cash flows in 
a way that is consistent with observable market information; plus (if this value is a liability) or minus (if this value is 
an asset) (ii) an amount representing the unearned profit in the group of contracts (the contractual service margin). 
Insurers will be recognising the profit from a group of insurance contracts over the period they provide insurance 
coverage, and as they are released from risk. If a group of contracts is or becomes loss-making, an entity will be 
recognising the loss immediately.  

Amendments to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (issued on 29 March 2018 and effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). The revised Conceptual Framework includes a new chapter 
on measurement; guidance on reporting financial performance; improved definitions and guidance - in particular the 
definition of a liability; and clarifications in important areas, such as the roles of stewardship, prudence and 
measurement uncertainty in financial reporting.  
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Definition of a business – Amendments to IFRS 3 (issued on 22 October 2018 and effective for acquisitions from 
the beginning of annual reporting period that starts on or after 1 January 2020). The amendments revise definition 
of a business. A business must have inputs and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability 
to create outputs. The new guidance provides a framework to evaluate when an input and a substantive process are 
present, including for early stage companies that have not generated outputs. An organised workforce should be 
present as a condition for classification as a business if are no outputs. The definition of the term ‘outputs’ is narrowed 
to focus on goods and services provided to customers, generating investment income and other income, and it excludes 
returns in the form of lower costs and other economic benefits. It is also no longer necessary to assess whether market 
participants are capable of replacing missing elements or integrating the acquired activities and assets. An entity can 
apply a ‘concentration test’. The assets acquired would not represent a business if substantially all of the fair value of 
gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single asset (or a group of similar assets).  

Definition of material – Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 (issued on 31 October 2018 and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). The amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should 
be applied by including in the definition guidance that until now has featured elsewhere in IFRS. In addition, the 
explanations accompanying the definition have been improved. Finally, the amendments ensure that the definition of 
material is consistent across all IFRS Standards. Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could 
reasonably be expected to influence the decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make 
on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.  

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture – Amendments to IFRS 10 
and IAS 28 (issued on 11 September 2014 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 
determined by the IASB). These amendments address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and 
those in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. 
The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a 
business. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even 
if these assets are held by a subsidiary. 

Interest rate benchmark reform – Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (issued on 26 September 2019 and 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). The amendments were triggered by replacement 
of benchmark interest rates such as LIBOR and other inter-bank offered rates (‘IBORs’). The amendments provide 
temporary relief from applying specific hedge accounting requirements to hedging relationships directly affected by 
the IBOR reform. Cash flow hedge accounting under both IFRS 9 and IAS 39 requires the future hedged cash flows 
to be ‘highly probable’. Where these cash flows depend on an IBOR, the relief provided by the amendments requires 
an entity to assume that the interest rate on which the hedged cash flows are based does not change as a result of the 
reform. Both IAS 39 and IFRS 9 require a forward-looking prospective assessment in order to apply hedge accounting. 
While cash flows under IBOR and IBOR replacement rates are currently expected to be broadly equivalent, which 
minimises any ineffectiveness, this might no longer be the case as the date of the reform gets closer. Under the 
amendments, an entity may assume that the interest rate benchmark on which the cash flows of the hedged item, 
hedging instrument or hedged risk are based, is not altered by IBOR reform. IBOR reform might also cause a hedge 
to fall outside the 80–125% range required by retrospective test under IAS 39. IAS 39 has therefore been amended to 
provide an exception to the retrospective effectiveness test such that a hedge is not discontinued during the period of 
IBOR-related uncertainty solely because the retrospective effectiveness falls outside this range. However, the other 
requirements for hedge accounting, including the prospective assessment, would still need to be met. In some hedges, 
the hedged item or hedged risk is a non-contractually specified IBOR risk component. In order for hedge accounting 
to be applied, both IFRS 9 and IAS 39 require the designated risk component to be separately identifiable and reliably 
measurable. Under the amendments, the risk component only needs to be separately identifiable at initial hedge 
designation and not on an ongoing basis. In the context of a macro hedge, where an entity frequently resets a hedging 
relationship, the relief applies from when a hedged item was initially designated within that hedging relationship. Any 
hedge ineffectiveness will continue to be recorded in profit or loss under both IAS 39 and IFRS 9. The amendments 
set out triggers for when the reliefs will end, which include the uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform 
no longer being present. The amendments require entities to provide additional information to investors about their 
hedging relationships that are directly affected by these uncertainties, including the nominal amount of hedging 
instruments to which the reliefs are applied, any significant assumptions or judgements made in applying the reliefs, 
and qualitative disclosures about how the entity is impacted by IBOR reform and is managing the transition process.  
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 4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current – Amendments to IAS 1 (issued on 23 January 2020 and 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). These narrow scope amendments clarify that 
liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting 
period. Liabilities are non-current if the entity has a substantive right, at the end of the reporting period, to defer 
settlement for at least twelve months. The guidance no longer requires such a right to be unconditional. Management’s 
expectations whether they will subsequently exercise the right to defer settlement do not affect classification of 
liabilities. The right to defer only exists if the entity complies with any relevant conditions as of the end of the reporting 
period. A liability is classified as current if a condition is breached at or before the reporting date even if a waiver of 
that condition is obtained from the lender after the end of the reporting period. Conversely, a loan is classified as non-
current if a loan covenant is breached only after the reporting date. In addition, the amendments include clarifying the 
classification requirements for debt a company might settle by converting it into equity. ‘Settlement’ is defined as the 
extinguishment of a liability with cash, other resources embodying economic benefits or an entity’s own equity 
instruments. There is an exception for convertible instruments that might be converted into equity, but only for those 
instruments where the conversion option is classified as an equity instrument as a separate component of a compound 
financial instrument.  

The Bank is considering the implications of the above standards and amendments, the impact on the Bank and the 
timing of their adoption by the Bank. 

The accounting policies used are consistent with those used in the previous financial year, except for the application by 
the Bank of new, revised IFRSs, mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 described above. 

Main assumptions. Preparation of financial statements requires Management to make evaluations that influence the 
amounts of assets and liabilities presented in the financial statements as at the reporting date as well as the amounts 
of income and expenses incurred during the reporting period. The Management is basing their evaluations and their 
judgements on the historical experience and various factors deemed appropriate in current circumstances. Actual 
results can differ from those evaluations if different assumptions and conditions are applicable. Assertions developed 
by the respective structural division in the process of applying the accounting policy that have a significant impact on 
the amounts recognized in the financial statement and that are the most significant for the financial statements are 
disclosed in Note 28. 

Key valuation techniques. The Bank uses the following methods for recognition and evaluation of financial 
instruments: at fair value or at amortized cost. 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability could be settled between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arm's length transaction. A financial instrument has a quoted market price in an active market if 
the quotes for such instruments are regularly determined and related information is available at the stock exchange 
through information and analytical systems or from other information sources, and if such quotes reflect real and 
regular market transactions carried out on an arm’s length basis. 

The fair value of financial instruments quoted at an active market is determined based on: 

 Stock market quotations (quoted market prices), generally, for financial instruments traded through trade 
organizers; 

 Demand prices for financial assets and supply prices for financial liabilities, and estimated fair value determined 
based on the data from information and analytic systems (e.g., Reuters and Bloomberg), market dealers and 
other sources. 

With absence of current quoted market prices to determine the fair value the following information may be used: 

 The latest quoted market price (demand/supply price) according to external independent sources, if no material 
changes occurred in the economic environment between the date of estimation and the reporting date; 

 The actual price of the latest transaction performed by the Bank in the active market, if there were no significant 
changes in the economic environment between the transaction date and the reporting date. 

In case of a material change in the economic environment, the latest quoted market price (price of the transaction) should 
be adjusted based on changes in the quoted market price (price of the transaction) for similar financial instruments. For 
debt securities, the latest quoted market price (price of the transaction) may be adjusted based on changes in maturity of 
such debt security. 

Underlying the definition of fair value is an assumption that an entity is a going concern without any intention or need to 
liquidate, curtail materially the scale of its operations or undertake a transaction on adverse terms. Fair value is not, 
therefore, the amount that the Bank would receive in a forced transaction, involuntary liquidation or distress sale. 

The model of discounted cash flows and the analysis of financial information on investees are used for determination of 
the fair value of financial instruments when the information on their quoted market prices is unavailable from external 
sources. If there is a method for valuation of a financial instrument widely applicable by market participants, which 
confirms the valuation results with the prices of actual market transactions, it can be used to determine the price of such 
financial instrument. 

Such method may be selected for each case of fair value determination, and unless otherwise substantiated, valuation 
methods based on stock market prices and demand/supply quoted prices should be applied. Determination of the fair 
values of financial instruments when the information on their quoted market prices is unavailable from external sources 
depends on various factors, circumstances and requires application of professional judgment.  

The Bank classifies the information used for determination of the fair value of a financial instrument based on the 
significance of the input data used for valuation, as follows: 

 The current market prices for financial instruments identical with the financial instrument under evaluation 
(level 1); 

 If the information on current quoted market prices is unavailable – the most recent market transaction price, if 
no significant changes in the operating environment occurred from the date of transaction, and current quoted 
market prices on comparable financial instruments, if the operating environment changed from the date of 
transaction, and the information based on observable market data (level 2); 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 The prices calculated using valuation techniques with inputs not based on observable market data (level 3). 

Amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability is the amount at which the financial instrument was measured 
at initial recognition, less cash received or paid (principal amount, interest income (expense) or other payments under 
agreement) adjusted for accumulated depreciation charged on the difference between the initially recognized amount 
and received (paid) amount on the financial instrument, and for financial asset impairment loss recognized. This 
difference is depreciated using effective interest rate. Accrued interest includes amortization of transaction costs 
deferred at initial recognition and any premiums or discounts to maturity amount using the effective interest rate 
method. Accrued interest income and accrued interest expenses, including accrued coupon income and amortized 
discount and premium, are not presented separately but included in the carrying value of respective assets and 
liabilities. 

With respect to variable financial assets and liabilities cash flows and effective interest rate are recalculated at the date 
of establishment of a new coupon (interest) rate. The effective interest rate is recalculated based on the current 
amortized cost and expected future payments. Current amortized cost of the financial instrument does not change, and 
the amortized cost is measured applying the newly established effective interest rate. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability 
and allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of 
the financial instrument or, if applicable, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial 
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms 
and conditions relating to the financial instrument (for example, the early repayment option), but not future credit 
losses. 

Such calculation includes all fees and commission paid or received by parties to the contract and is an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. When loans become doubtful of 
collection, they are written down to their recoverable amounts and interest income is thereafter recognized based on 
the rate of interest that was used to discount the future cash flows for measuring the recoverable amount. 

There is a presumption that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be 
estimated reliably. However, in those cases when it is not possible to estimate the cash flows or the expected life of a 
financial instrument, the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over the full contractual term of the financial 
instrument. 

Classification – financial asssets 

A financial asset is classified to be measured at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income, or at 
fair value through profit or loss. 

The classification and measurement approach for financial assets reflects the business model used to manage these 
assets and the characteristics of the associated cash flows. 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not classified 
at the Bank’s discretion as measured at fair value through profit or loss: 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 it is retained within the business model, the purpose of which is to withhold assets to receive the contractual 
cash flows, and 

 its contractual terms provide for the emergence of cash flows in due time, which represent the payment of 
only the principal amount and interest on the outstanding principal amount. 

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income only if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not classified at the discretion of the Bank as measured at fair value through profit or loss: 

 it is retained within the framework of a business model, the purpose of which is achieved both by obtaining 
the contractual cash flows and by selling financial assets, and 

 its contractual terms provide for the emergence of cash flows in due time, which represent the payment of 
only the principal amount and interest on the outstanding principal amount. 

В All financial assets that do not meet the criteria for their measurement at amortized cost or at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, as described above, are measured at fair value through profit or loss. In addition, upon 
initial recognition, the Bank may, at its sole discretion, classify, without the right of subsequent reclassification, a 
financial asset that meets the criteria for measurement at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, as measured at fair value through profit or loss, if it will eliminate or significantly reduce the accounting 
inconsistency, which would otherwise arise. 

At initial recognition, a financial asset is classified into one of three categories described above. 

Business Model Assessment 

The Bank evaluates the purpose of the business model in which the asset is held, at the level of the portfolio of financial 
instruments, since this best reflects the way the business is managed, and the information is communicated to 
management. The following information is considered: 

 Policies and objectives established for this portfolio of financial assets, as well as the effect of these policies 
in practice. Management strategy is aimed at obtaining interest income stipulated in the contract, maintaining 
a certain interest rate structure, ensuring that the maturities of financial assets match the maturity of financial 
liabilities used to finance these assets, or selling cash flows through the sale of assets. 

 How the performance of the portfolio is assessed and how this information is communicated to the Bank's 
management. 

 Risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within the framework 
of this business model), and how these risks are managed. 

 How the managers managing the business are rewarded (for example, does this depend on the fair value of 
the assets they manage or on the cash flows they receive from the assets stipulated in the contract). 

 The frequency, volume and timing of sales in the past, the reasons for such sales, as well as expectations 
about the future level of sales. However, information on sales levels is not considered in isolation, but within 
a single, holistic analysis of how the Bank's goal of managing financial assets is achieved, and how cash 
flows are realized. 

Financial assets that are held for trading and managed and the performance of which is measured at fair value is 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, as they are not withheld for obtaining contractual cash flows, nor for 
obtaining the contract of cash flows, and the sale of financial assets. 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

An assessment of whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest 

For the purposes of this valuation, "principal" is defined as the fair value of the financial asset when it is initially 
recognized. "Interest" is defined as a reimbursement for the time value of money, for credit risk in respect of the 
principal remaining outstanding for a certain period, and for other major risks and costs associated with lending (for 
example, liquidity and administrative costs), and margin of profit. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the outstanding 
principal amount ("SPPI criterion"), the Bank analyzes the contractual terms of the financial instrument. This includes 
an assessment of whether the financial asset contains any contractual condition that can change the time or amount of 
contractual cash flows so that the financial asset does not satisfy the analyzed requirement. In conducting the valuation, 
the Bank analyzes: 

 conditional events that can change the timing or amount of cash flows; 
 conditions that have the effect of leverage; 
 conditions for early repayment and prolongation of the validity period; 
 conditions that restrict the Bank's claims to cash flows from the specified assets - for example, financial 

assets without recourse; 
 conditions that cause changes in the reimbursement for the time value of money - for example, periodic 

revision of interest rates. 

All Bank loans granted to legal entities have conditions for early repayment. 

The condition for early repayment meets the SPPI criterion if the amount paid on early repayment represents 
essentially an outstanding portion of the principal and interest on the outstanding part and may include reasonable 
additional compensation for the early termination of the contract. 

In addition, the condition for early repayment is considered as meeting this criterion in the event that a financial asset 
is acquired or created with a premium or a discount with respect to the nominal amount specified in the contract, the 
amount payable on early repayment is essentially the nominal amount specified in the contract plus the interest accrued 
(but not paid) under the contract (and may also include reasonable additional compensation for the early termination 
of the contract); and at initial recognition of a financial asset the fair value of its condition for early repayment is 
insignificant. 

Reclassification of financial assets. Financial assets are not reclassified after their initial recognition, except for the 
period after the Bank changes its business model for managing financial assets. Reclassifications are recorded 
prospectively 

Impairment - Financial assets, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts 

A future-oriented model of "expected credit losses" is used to assess the impairment. The application of this 
impairment model requires significant professional judgments of the Bank as to how changes in economic factors 
affect expected credit losses, determined by weighting in the likelihood of their occurrence. 

This impairment model is applied to the following financial instruments that are not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

 financial assets that are debt instruments; 
 lease receivables; and 
 loan commitments and liabilities under financial guarantee contracts. 

For equity investments, an impairment loss is not recognized. 

 



Natixis Bank JSC 
Notes to the financial statements – as at December 31, 2019 and for 2019 year 
(in thousands of Russian Roubles) 
 

23 
 

4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Estimated allowance for expected credit losses should be recognized in an amount equal to either the 12-month 
expected credit losses or the expected credit losses for the entire period. The expected credit losses for the entire term 
are expected credit losses that arise from all possible default events throughout the expected life of the financial 
instrument, whereas the 12-month expected credit losses are part of the expected credit losses that arise from default 
events that may occur within 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

Estimated provisions for losses in respect of lease receivables will always be estimated in an amount equal to the 
expected credit losses for the entire period. 

The requirements for impairment assessment are complex and require judgments and assumptions, especially in the 
following areas, which are discussed in detail below: 

 An assessment of whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk of a financial instrument 
since its initial recognition; and 

 inclusion of forecast information in the assessment of expected credit losses. 
 

Estimation of expected credit losses 

Expected credit losses represent a calculated estimate, weighted by probability, of credit losses. They are evaluated as 
follows: 

 for financial assets that are not considered to be impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all 
expected cash shortfalls (that is, the difference between the cash flows due to the Bank in accordance with 
the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive); 

 for financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross book 
value of assets and the present value of estimated future cash flows; 

 for the unused portion of the loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual 
cash flows that are due to the Bank under the contract if the holder of the loan commitment takes advantage 
of his right to receive a loan and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive if this the loan will be issued; 
and 

 in respect of financial guarantee contracts: as the present value of expected payments to the holder of the 
contract to compensate for the credit loss incurred, less the amounts that the Bank expects to recover. 

Definition of default 

A financial asset is classified as a financial asset by the Bank for which an event of default occurred, in the following 
cases: 

 it is unlikely that the borrower's credit obligations to the Bank will be repaid in full without the Bank applying 
such actions as the implementation of collateral (if any); or 

 the debt of the borrower for any of the Bank's significant loan liabilities is overdue by more than 90 days. 
Overdrafts are considered overdue debts from the moment when the customer violated the recommended 
limit, or he was recommended a limit that is less than the amount of the current outstanding debt. 

When assessing the occurrence of an event of default on the obligations of the borrower, the Bank considers the 
following indicators: 

 qualitative: for example, violation of restrictive conditions of the contract (covenants); 
 quantitative: for example, the status of overdue debt and non-payment of another obligation of the same 

issuer of the Bank; and 
 based on data independently developed by the Bank and obtained from external sources. 

The initial data in assessing the occurrence of a financial default event and their significance may change over time to 
reflect changes in circumstances. 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Significant increase in credit risk 

In determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk (i.e. default risk) on a financial instrument 
since its initial recognition, the Bank considers reasonable and verifiable information that is current and available 
without undue cost or efforts, including both quantitative and qualitative information, as well as analysis based on the 
Bank's historical experience, expert evaluation of credit quality and forecast information. 

The Bank first identifies whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk for a position exposed to credit 
risk by comparing: 

 probability of default for the remainder of the whole period as of the reporting date; and 

 probability of default for the remainder of the entire period calculated for this point in time, determined at 
the initial recognition of a position exposed to credit risk. 

An assessment of the significant increase in credit risk since the initial recognition of a financial instrument requires 
the determination of the date of initial recognition of the instrument. For some renewable credit facilities, such as 
credit cards and overdrafts, the date of entering into contracts can be very long-standing. The change in the contractual 
terms of the financial instrument, which is discussed below, may also have an impact on this valuation. 

Levels of credit risk 

The Bank allocates each position exposed to credit risk between the levels of credit risk based on various data that are 
determined to predict the risk of default, as well as by applying expert judgment on the loan. The Bank uses these 
levels of credit risk to identify a significant increase in credit risk. Credit risk levels are determined using qualitative 
and quantitative factors that indicate the risk of default. These factors may vary depending on the nature of the position 
exposed to credit risk and the type of borrower. 

Each position exposed to credit risk relates to a certain level of credit risk at the date of initial recognition based on 
information available to the borrower. Positions subject to credit risk are subject to constant monitoring, which may 
lead to the transfer of the position to a different level of credit risk. 

The Bank applies the “three-step” impairment accounting model based on changes in credit quality since its initial 
recognition. A financial instrument that is not impaired upon initial recognition is classified as relating to stage 1. For 
financial assets of stage 1, expected credit losses are estimated at an amount equal to the portion of the expected credit 
losses over the entire term, which arise as a result of defaults that can occur during following 12 months or until the 
maturity date under the contract, if it occurs before the expiration of 12 months (“12-month expected credit losses”). 
If the Bank identifies a significant increase in credit risk from the moment of initial recognition, the asset is transferred 
to stage 2, and the expected credit losses on this asset are estimated based on the expected credit losses over the entire 
term, that is, before the maturity date according to the contract, but taking into account the expected prepayment if it 
is provided for (“expected credit losses for the entire term”). If the Bank determines that a financial asset is impaired, 
the asset is transferred to stage 3 and the expected credit losses are estimated as expected credit losses over the entire 
term. 

The levels of credit risk are determined and calibrated in such a way that the risk of default increases exponentially as 
credit risk worsens - for example, the difference in the risk of default between 1 and 2 levels of credit risk is less than 
the difference between 2 and 3 levels of credit risk. 

Creating a term structure for the probability of default 

Credit risk levels are the initial data when creating a term structure of the probability of default for positions exposed 
to credit risk. The Bank collects information on debt servicing and default level for positions exposed to credit risk, 
analyzed depending on jurisdiction, product type and borrower and on the level of credit risk 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The Bank uses statistical models to analyze the collected data and obtain estimates of the probability of default for the 
remaining period for positions exposed to credit risk and the expectations of their changes over time. 

This analysis includes the definition and calibration of the relationship between changes in default probabilities and 
changes in macroeconomic factors, as well as a detailed analysis of the impact of some other factors (for example, the 
practice of revising the terms of loan agreements) on the risk of default. For most positions exposed to credit risk, a 
key macroeconomic indicator is likely to be GDP growth. 

For positions subject to credit risk, for specific industries and / or regions, the analysis may extend to prices for the 
relevant goods and / or real estate. 

The Bank's approach to incorporating the forecast information into this assessment is given below. 

Determination of a significant increase in credit risk 
The Bank has developed an assessment methodology that includes both quantitative and qualitative information to 
determine a significant increase in credit risk for a financial instrument since its initial recognition. This methodology 
is consistent with the Bank's internal credit risk management process. The criteria for determining a significant 
increase in credit risk will vary depending on the portfolio and will include a "delinquent" in terms of the delay. 
 
In several cases, applying expert judgment of credit quality and, if applicable, relevant historical experience, the Bank 
can determine that there has been a significant increase in credit risk for a position exposed to credit risk, if specified 
by specific quality indicators, and data indicators cannot be timely considered fully in the framework of quantitative 
analysis. As a "delinquent" and subject to the requirements of IFRS 9, the Bank will presumably assume that a 
significant increase in credit risk takes place no later than when the number of days overdue for the asset exceeds 30 
days. The bank will determine the number of days of overdue debt by counting the number of days since the earliest 
elapsed due date in respect of which full payment has not been received. 
 
The Bank verifies the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify a significant increase in credit risk through regular 
inspections to ensure that: 

 the criteria can detect a significant increase in credit risk before the position exposed to credit risk is in 
default; 

 the criteria do not coincide with the time when the payment for the asset is overdue by more than 30 days; 
 the average time between the detection of a significant increase in credit risk and default seems reasonable; 
 positions exposed to risk are not directly transferred from the 12-month expected credit losses to the credit-

impaired; 
 there is no unjustified volatility of the estimated allowance for losses when transferring 12-month expected 

credit losses to the expected credit losses for the entire period. 

Modified financial assets 
The loan terms stipulated by the agreement may be modified for several reasons, including changing market 
conditions, retaining customers and other factors not related to the current or potential deterioration in the client's 
creditworthiness. The recognition of an existing loan, the terms of which have been modified, may be terminated, and 
a revised loan is recognized as a new loan at fair value. 
 
In accordance with IFRS 9, if the terms of the financial asset are modified and the modification does not lead to the 
termination of recognition, the determination whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk of the 
asset is made by comparison: 
 

 probability of default for the remaining period as of the reporting date based on the modified contractual 
terms; and 

 the probability of default for the remaining period as of the date of initial recognition based on the original 
contractual terms. 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The Bank is reviewing the terms for loans of customers in financial difficulties (called the practice of "reviewing the 
terms of loan agreements") to maximize the amount of debt repayment and minimize the risk of default. In accordance 
with the Bank's policy of reviewing the terms of the loan agreements, the credit terms are reviewed for each individual 
customer if the debtor is currently defaulting on its debt or there is a high default risk, there is evidence that the debtor 
has applied all reasonable efforts to pay on initial contractual terms and it is assumed that the debtor will be able to 
fulfill the revised terms. 

The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and changing the 
restrictive terms of the contract (covenants). The Credit Committee of the Bank regularly reviews reports on the 
revision of the terms of the loan agreements. 

For financial assets modified as part of a policy to revise the terms of a loan agreement, an assessment of the likelihood 
of default will reflect whether the modification has led to an improvement or recovery in the Bank's ability to receive 
interest and principal, and the Bank's previous experience with such a review of the terms of the loan agreements. As 
part of this process, the Bank will assess the timeliness of debt servicing by the borrower in accordance with the 
modified terms of the contract and will consider various behavioral indicators. 

As a rule, the revision of the terms of the loan agreements is a qualitative indicator of default and credit impairment, 
and expectations regarding the revision of the terms of the loan agreements are related to the assessment of a significant 
increase in credit risk. After reviewing the terms of the loan agreements, the client will have to demonstrate timely 
payments within a certain period before the position exposed to credit risk is not considered to be in default / being 
credit-impaired or the probability of default will be so low that the estimated allowance for losses will again be 
estimated in an amount equal to the expected credit losses for 12 months. 

Baseline data for estimating expected credit losses 

The main initial data in estimating expected credit losses will most likely be the time structures of the following 
variables: 

 Probability of Default (PD); 
 Loss Given Default (LGD); and 
 Exposure at Default (EAD) 

These indicators will be obtained from internal statistical models and other historical data. They will be adjusted to 
reflect the forward-looking information as described below. 

Estimates of Probability of Default (PD) are estimates for a certain date that are calculated based on statistical rating 
models and are estimated using valuation tools adapted to different categories of counterparties and positions exposed 
to credit risk. These statistical models will be based on internal accumulated data, including both quantitative and 
qualitative factors. Wherever possible, market data can also be used to determine the probability of default for large 
counterparties - legal entities. If a counterparty or a position exposed to credit risk migrates between the levels of the 
rating, this will lead to a change in the assessment of the corresponding probability of default. The probability of 
default will be evaluated considering the contractual maturity of positions exposed to credit risk and the expected rates 
of early repayment. 

The amount of the Loss Given Default (LGD) is the amount of the probable loss in case of default. The Bank will 
assess LGD's performance, based on information about the recovery rates for claims against counterparties. LGD's 
valuation models will provide for the structure, collateral, priority of claims, counterparty industry and the costs of 
reimbursing any collateral that is included in the financial asset. Estimates of the value of the loss in case of default 
will be calibrated considering various economic scenarios. They will be calculated based on discounted cash flows 
using the effective interest rate as the discount factor. 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The amount Exposure at Default (EAD) is the expected value of the position exposed to credit risk on the date of 
default. This indicator will be calculated by the Bank based on the current amount of EAD, and its possible changes, 
admissible under the contract, including amortization and early repayment. For a financial asset, the value of EAD 
will be the gross book value in case of default. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amount 
of EAD will consider the amount received, as well as the possible future amounts that can be received or paid under 
the contract, which will be assessed based on historical observations and forecasts. For certain financial assets, the 
Bank will determine the amount of EAD by modeling the range of possible positions of exposures exposed to credit 
risk at different times using scenarios and statistical methods. 

As described above, subject to the maximum 12-month probability of default for financial assets for which the credit 
risk was not significantly increased, the Bank will assess the expected credit losses considering the default risk for the 
maximum period under the contract (including any options of the borrower for prolongation), during which it is 
exposed to credit risk, even if for the purposes of risk management, the Bank considers a longer period. The maximum 
period under the contract extends up to the date when the Bank has the right to demand repayment of the loan or has 
the right to cancel the obligation to provide a loan or a financial guarantee contract. 

Forecast information 

The Bank incorporates forward-looking information both in its assessment of the significant increase in credit risk 
from the time of initial recognition and in the assessment of expected credit losses. The Bank uses the expert 
assessment of the Bank's Market Risk Committee to evaluate the forecast information. This estimate is also based on 
external information. External information may include economic data and forecasts published by government 
authorities and monetary authorities in the countries where the Bank operates, such as the Bank of Russia, the Ministry 
of Economic Development, and individual and scientific forecasts. 

The Bank also periodically conducts stress testing of "shock" scenarios to adjust its approach to the definition of data 
from representative scenarios. 

Disclosure of provisions for expected credit losses in the statement of financial position. Provisions for expected 
credit losses are disclosed in the statement of financial position as follows. 
 
• for financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from the gross book value of assets; 
• on credit obligations and financial guarantees: usually, as a provision. 
 

Write off financial assets. Financial assets are written off in whole or in partially, when the Bank has exhausted all 
practical possibilities for collecting them and concluded that expectations regarding the reimbursement of such assets 
were unjustified. Write-off represents derecognition. The Bank can write off financial assets for which enforcement 
measures are still being taken when the Bank tries to recover amounts due under the contract, although it does not 
have reasonable expectations about their recovery. 

Derecognition of financial assets. The Bank derecognizes financial assets, (а) when these assets are repaid or the 
rights to cash flows associated with these assets have expired, or (б) the bank transferred the rights to cash flows from 
financial assets or entered into a transfer agreement, and (i) also transferred almost all the risks and rewards associated 
with owning these assets, or (ii) neither transferred nor retained almost all the risks and rewards associated with 
owning these assets, but lost control over these assets. Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical 
ability to fully sell the asset to an unrelated third party without imposing restrictions on the sale. 

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, unrestricted balances on correspondent 
accounts with commercial banks and accounts with the Central Bank of the Russian Federation. All short-term 
interbank placements are included in due from banks. 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Minimum reserve deposits with the Central Bank of the Russian Federation. Minimum reserve deposits with the 
Central Bank of the Russian Federation are recorded at amortized cost and represent non-interest-bearing reserves 
with the CBR which are not available to finance the Bank’s day to day operations, and hence are not considered as 
part of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows. 

Due from banks. Loans and funds provided to banks are recorded when the Bank provides cash to counterparty banks 
in the form of advance payments. Due from other banks are carried at amortized cost if (i) they are held to obtain the 
contractual cash flows and these cash flows are solely payments on the principal amount of the debt and interest and 
(ii) they are not classified, as assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Loans to customers. Loans to customers presented in the statement of financial position include loans and advances 
to customers, recognized at amortized cost; they are initially recognized at fair value, taking into account the additional 
direct costs of the transaction, and then at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). This category includes financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss held for trading and other financial assets designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss at initial recognition. 

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired for selling it in the near term or is part of a portfolio 
of identified financial instruments that the Bank manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking. Derivative financial instruments having a positive fair value (i.e. potentially profitable terms) are also 
designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held for trading unless they are derivative financial 
instruments designated as effective hedging instruments. 

Other financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial assets included in this category 
at initial recognition. The Bank includes financial assets in this category only if one of the following requirements is 
met: 

 Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise where such assets and liabilities were measured, or relevant gain or loss was recognized, using 
various methods; 

 A group of financial assets is managed, and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance 
with the Bank's documented risk management or investment strategy. Information about these financial assets 
managed on a fair value basis is submitted to the management. 

 A financial asset includes an embedded derivative financial instrument which shall be recognized separately. 

Initially and subsequently financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are valued at fair value which 
is calculated either based on quoted market prices or applying various valuation techniques. The valuation techniques 
are presented in section “Key valuation techniques”. 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Realized and non-realized income and expenses on operations with financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in the period when they were received or incurred, included 
in income less expenses on the operations with financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Interest income 
from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is measured using the effective interest rate method and 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as interest income on financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss. Received dividends are included in other operating income in the statement of comprehensive income. The 
Bank classifies financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in an appropriate category at the date of acquisition. 
Derivative financial assets classified into this category and other financial assets classified as measured at fair value 
through profit or loss at initial recognition are not reclassified.  

Financial assets at amortized cost. Debt securities are carried at amortized cost if they are held to receive the cash flows 
stipulated by the contract and these cash flows represent exclusively payments against the principal amount of the debt 
and interest. Interest income on these assets is calculated using the effective interest method and is recognized in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as part of “Interest income”. The provision for impairment 
losses determined on the basis of the expected credit loss model is recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 

Property and equipment and intangible assets. Property, equipment and intangible assets acquired after 1 January 2003 
are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization (for intangible assets). Property, equipment 
and intangible assets acquired before January 1, 2003 are carried at historical cost restated to the equivalent purchasing 
power of the Russian Rouble as at December 31, 2002, less accumulated depreciation. 

At each reporting date the Bank assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of property and equipment and 
intangible assets. If any such indication exists, the Bank estimates the recoverable amount, which is determined as the 
higher of an asset’s net selling price and its value in use. Where the carrying value of an asset is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount and the difference is charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income as an impairment loss. An impairment loss recognized for an asset in prior years 
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the assets recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposal of property, equipment and intangible assets are determined by reference to the carrying 
amount and included in the statement of comprehensive income. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income as incurred. 

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment, intangible assets and right-of-
use assets are applied on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the following rates:  
 Furniture – 5-20% per annum; 

 Office and computer equipment – 14-48% per annum; 

 Inseparable improvements of the leased property – 18-28% per annum;  

 Intangible assets – 4-52% per annum; 

 Right-of-use assets: 

o Office premises – 28% per annum; and 

o Cars – 33-50% per annum. 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Due to banks. Due to banks are recorded from the date of issuance of cash or other assets to the Bank by counterparty 
banks. Due to banks are non-derivative financial liabilities and are recognized at amortized cost. 

Customer accounts. Customer accounts include non-derivative financial liabilities to corporate customers and are 
carried at amortized cost. 

Credit-related commitments. The Bank assumes credit-related commitments including letters of credit and financial 
guarantees. Financial guarantees require the Bank to make certain payments to reimburse the guarantee holder for losses 
incurred if the specified debtor did not make timely payments on the original or modified terms of the debt instrument. 
Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value, generally confirmed by the amount of the consideration received. 
This amount is amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. At the end of each reporting period, liabilities 
are assessed by the largest of (i) the amount of the allowance for losses on the guarantee determined using the model of 
expected credit losses, and (ii) the remaining not depreciated balance of the amount recognized at initial recognition. In 
addition, in respect of receivables for guarantee fee, which is recorded as an asset in the statement of financial position, an 
allowance is made for expected credit losses. 

Share capital. Share capital is recognized at cost adjusted for inflation. 

Share premium. Share premium represents the excess of contributions received in share capital over the nominal 
value of shares issued. 

Dividends. Dividends declared after the reporting period are recognized in the events after the reporting period. If 
dividends are declared by the holder of equity instruments after the reporting period, such dividends are not recognized 
as liabilities as at the reporting date. Dividends are reported as earnings distribution in the financial statements upon 
approval by the general meeting of shareholders. 

Subordinated loan. Subordinated loan is initially recognized at fair value. Subsequently, subordinated loan is stated 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  

Income and expense recognition. Interest income and expense are recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income for all debt instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method.  

Fees and commissions related to the effective interest rate include fees and commissions received or paid in connection 
with formation or acquisition of a financial asset or issuance of a financial liability (for example, fees and commissions 
for creditworthiness assessment, evaluation and accounting of guarantees or collateral, for settlement of instrument 
provision conditions and for processing of transaction documents). Fees for the commitment to loan extension at 
market rates received by the Banks are an integral part of the effective interest rate if there is a probability that the 
Bank will enter into a loan agreement and will not plan to realize this loan within a short period after the extension. 
The Bank does not classify loan commitments as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

When loans and other debt instruments become doubtful of collection, they are written down to their recoverable 
amounts and interest income is thereafter recognized based on the rate of interest that was used to discount the future 
cash flows for measuring the recoverable amount. 

All other commission income and other income and other expenses are generally recognized on an accrual basis over 
the period of service provision depending on the completeness extent of a transaction determined as the share of a 
rendered service in the total scope of services to be provided. 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Income tax. Tax expenses are presented in the financial statements in accordance with the RF legislation currently in 
force. Income tax expense in the statement of comprehensive income for the year comprises current income tax and 
changes in deferred income tax. 

Current income tax is calculated based on amounts expected to be paid to tax authorities or refunded by tax authorities 
in respect of the taxable profit or losses for the current and prior periods using income tax rates in effect as at the end 
of the reporting period. Taxable profit or losses are based on estimates if financial statements are approved before the 
submission of respective tax returns. Other tax expense, other than income tax, is included in operating expenses. 

Deferred income tax is assessed using the balance sheet liability method for all temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities are measured at income tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized, 
or the liability is settled, based on income tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the 
reporting period.  

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and recognized to the 
extent it is likely that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes are levied by the same taxation authority. Net deferred income tax assets 
represent income taxes which can be utilized against future income and are recognized in the statement of financial 
position. A deferred tax asset arising from the carry forward of tax losses is recognized only to the extent it is probable 
to utilize the appropriate tax benefit. 

Foreign currency revaluation. Items included in the Bank’s financial statements are measured using the currency of 
primary economic environment where the Bank operates ("functional currency"). The financial statements are presented 
in the currency of the Russian Federation which is the Bank’s functional currency and the currency of presentation. 

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are recorded at the official exchange rate established by the Central 
Bank of the Russian Federation at the date of transaction. 

The date of transaction is the date on which the transaction first qualifies for recognition in accordance with IFRS. 

A foreign exchange difference arising on settlements of transactions denominated in foreign currencies at exchange 
rates different from the official CBR rate are included in the statement of comprehensive income within income less 
expenses on foreign exchange operations. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Russian Roubles at the official 
CBR exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into Russian Roubles at the official CBR exchange rate at the date of initial recognition. 

As at December 31, 2019, the official exchange rate used for revaluating foreign currency account balances was as 
follows: 

 RUB 61.9057 to USD 1 (December 31, 2018: RUB 69.4706 to USD 1); 

 RUB 69.3406 to EUR 1 (December 31, 2018: RUB 79.4605 to EUR 1). 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

At present, the currency of the Russian Federation is not a freely convertible currency in most countries outside the 
Russian Federation. 

Derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments are financial instruments which meet all the 
following criteria: 

 Their value changes in response to the change in an underlying variable, provided that in case of a non-financial 
variable this variable does not specifically relate to a party to the agreement; 

 No initial investment or small initial investment is required for their acquisition; 

 They are settled at a future. 

Derivative financial instruments, including forward foreign exchange contracts and cross currency and interest rate 
swaps, are initially recognized in the statement of financial position at fair value and are subsequently remeasured to 
fair value. 

Fair value is estimated using quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models, or spot rates at the year-end, 
depending on the type of transaction. Derivative financial instruments with positive fair values are offset against 
derivative financial instruments with negative fair values only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset.  

Derivative financial instruments are recognized in the statement of financial position in the line “Financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss” if their fair value is positive, or in the line “Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss”, if their fair value is negative. 

Changes in the fair values of derivatives are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as income less 
expenses on foreign exchange operations and income less expenses on operations with financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss depending on the type of transaction. 

A derivative financial instrument is derecognized upon discharge of assets and liabilities under a derivative financial 
instrument according to a contract, as well as upon expiration of the contract maturity period. The date of derivative 
derecognition is the date of the discharge of assets and liabilities under a derivative according to a contract. 

The Bank does not enter into transactions designated as hedge transactions under IAS 39. 

Offsetting. Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts, and there is an intention to 
either settle assets and liabilities net or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses 
are not offset in the statement of comprehensive income except when required or permitted by accounting standards 
or a related interpretation and such cases are disclosed in the Bank’s accounting policy. 

Accounting for the effects of inflation. In the opinion of Management, effective from 1 January 2003, the Russian 
Federation no longer meets the criteria of IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”, and 
therefore, the Bank ceased applying IAS 29 to current periods and only recognized the cumulative impact of inflation 
indexing on non-monetary elements of the financial statements to December 31, 2002. Consequently, monetary items 
and results of operations as of and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and all subsequent years are reported at 
actual nominal amounts. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities acquired prior to December 31, 2002 and share capital transactions occurring 
before December 31, 2002 were restated by applying the relevant inflation factors to the historical cost (“restated 
cost”) through December 31, 2002. Gains or losses on subsequent disposals are recognized based on the restated cost 
of the non-monetary assets and liabilities. 
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4 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Accrued liabilities. An accrued liability is a non-financial liability of uncertain timing or amount. 

Accrued liabilities are recognized if the Bank has contingent liabilities (legal or constructive) that occurred before the 
end of the reporting period. Meanwhile there is a high probability that outflow of economic resources will be required 
for the settlement of these liabilities, and the amount of liabilities can be measured reliably. 

Employees’ benefits and related expenses. All benefits the Bank provides to employees in exchange for their service, 
or termination of employment, are considered as employees’ benefits. 

Costs associated with payroll, including compensation and incentive payments are accrued in the period in which the 
associated services are rendered by the employees of the Bank, and the costs associated with the payment of accrued 
leave, temporary disability benefits and child care - when due. The Bank pays annual bonuses to the employees for 
the year. Such payments are recognized in the period for which they are paid. Payments to the state funds, which arise 
or occur at the time of actual obligations to employees in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation, 
are recorded in the accounting period in which the Bank accrues expenses. The Bank takes obligations related to 
unused vacation, employees of the Bank. Such liabilities are recognized in the statement of financial position under 
"Other liabilities" with simultaneous accounting in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 
the vacation related to current accounting period, or in retained earnings for the vacation related to previous reporting 
periods. 

The Bank does not have any pension arrangements separate from the state pension system of the Russian Federation, 
which provides for calculating current contributions by the employer as a percentage of current total payments to staff. 
Such expense is charged in the period when the related salaries are earned. The Bank has no post-retirement benefits 
or other significant compensated benefits requiring accrual. Upon retirement, all retirement benefit payments are made 
by the pension funds selected by employees. 

Transactions with related parties. The Bank enters into related party transactions. Parties are related, inter alia, if one 
party can control the other party, is under common control with the other party, is under joint control of the other party 
and a third party or may exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. 
In considering a related party relationship, the Bank pays attention to the economic substance of such relationship and 
not merely the legal form. 

5 Cash and cash equivalents 

 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
   
Balances with the Central Bank of the Russian Federation   

(other than minimum reserve deposit) 1 247 897 537 547  
Correspondent accounts of:   
- non-banking credit organisations of the Russian Federation 263 494 - 
- banks of the Russian Federation 286 147 
- banks of other countries 41 394 620 100 
   
Less: allowance for credit losses (16) - 
   
   
Total cash and cash equivalents 1 553 055 1 157 794 
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5 Cash and cash equivalents (continued) 

As at December 31, 2019, the accrued interest expense at a negative interest rate on the correspondent account was 
included in cash and cash equivalents in the amount of RUB 11 thousand (December 31, 2018: RUB 163 thousand). 

As at December 31, 2019, cash and cash equivalents includes funds placed with a non-bank credit institution, the 
central counterparty, which are not compensation payments related to trading in derivative financial instruments. 
There are no restrictions on the use of these funds. The data as at December 31, 2018 were not adjusted, such funds 
are reflected in other financial assets as part of the line “Funds on stock exchanges” in the amount of RUB 108 464 
thousand. 

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018 the Bank had balances on correspondent accounts in 2 and 2 banks for a total 
amount of RUB 1 511 391 thousand and RUB 1 097 346 thousand, respectively, the amount of each of which 
exceeded 10% of the Bank's capital, including the balance on the correspondent account with in the Parent Bank as at 
December 31, 2019, in amount RUB 15 466 thousand, which is 1% of cash and cash equivalents (December 31, 2018: 
RUB 559 799 thousand and 48%, respectively). 

For the purpose of estimating expected credit losses, cash balances and their equivalents are included in Stage 1 

Movements in the estimated credit losses are presented in a table below: 

 

 

12-months 
expected credit 

losses 

Estimated-life 
expected credit 

losses –
unimpaired 

assets Total 
     
Allowance for credit losses at January 1, 2018  - 6 6 
Net movement of allowance in expected credit losses  - (6) (6) 
     
     
Allowance for credit losses at December 31, 2018  - - - 
     
Net movement of allowance in expected credit losses  16 - 16 
     
     
Allowance for credit losses at December 31, 2019  16 - 16 
     

 

Geographical analysis, analysis of cash and cash equivalents by currency structure and analysis of interest rates are 
presented in Note 22. 
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6 Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and spot transactions 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss represented solely by the derivative 
instruments including spot transactions. 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 the Bank had no assets provided as collateral under sale and 
repurchase agreements (“REPO”). 

Information on derivative instuments, including spot transactions, is presented in the Note 23. 

Geographical and currency analyses of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
disclosed in Note 22. 

7 Financial assets at amortized cost 

The portfolio of securities at amortized cost as at December 31, 2019 is represented by Bank of Russia coupon bonds 
with maturity from January to March 2020, coupon rate of 6.00-6.25% per annum and yield to maturity 6.08-6.10% 
per annum. 

The carrying amount of these instruments approximates their fair value due to their short maturity. 

For the purpose of assessing expected credit losses as at December 31, 2019, securities measured at amortized cost 
are included in Stage 1. 

As at December 31, 2019, the allowance for expected credit losses on securities measured at amortized cost is nil. 

As at December 31, 2018, there were no financial assets at amortized cost. 

8 Due from banks 

 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
   

Loans and funds provided to banks 11 849 742 12 671 513 
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (14) (323) 
   
   

Total Due from banks 11 849 728 12 671 190 
   

For the purpose of estimating expected credit losses as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, all due from 
banks are included in Stage 1. 
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8  Due from banks (continued) 

 

The table below presents movement in the estimated allowance for credit losses on loans and funds provided to banks 
in the interval between the beginning and the end of the annual period. 
 

 

12-months 
expected credit 

losses 

Estimated-life 
expected credit 

losses –
unimpaired 

assets Total 
     

Allowance for credit losses at January 1, 2018  - 675 675 
Net movement of allowance in expected credit losses  323 (675) (352) 
     
     

Allowance for credit losses at December 31, 2018  323 - 323 
Net movement of allowance in expected credit losses  (309) - (309) 
     
     

Allowance for credit losses at December 31, 2019  14 - 14 
     

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the due from banks included accrued interest income, which 
amounted to RUB 89 thousand and RUB 17 905 thousand, respectively. 
As at December 31, 2019 the due from banks included accrued interest expense on placements under the negative 
interest rate amounted to RUB 151 thousand (December 31, 2018: nil). 
As at December 31, 2019 the due from banks include RUB 11 349 653 thousand placed with the Parent Bank, which 
is 95.8% of the total amount of the due from banks. The loans were placed with the Parent Bank for the term “less 
than 1 month” at interest rate of 6.5% per annum in rubles and (0.5%) per annum in euro (December 31, 2018: absent). 

Operations for 2019 and 2018 years and balances on accounts as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 with 
related parties are disclosed in Note 26. 

In addition, as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the bank placed loans in 1 and 5 banks for the total 
amount of RUB 500 075 thousand and RUB 12 671 190  thousand, respectively, the debt of each of which exceeded 
10% of the Bank's capital. 
As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, in order to reduce the credit risk, the guarantees of the Parent Bank 
were not raised. 

Geographical, currency, maturity and interest rate analyses of due from banks are presented in Note 22. 
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9 Loans to customers 

 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
   
Loans to customers 13 957 665 8 359 903 
Less: Allowance for credit losses (4 869) (4 380) 
   
   
Total loans to customers 13 952 796 8 355 523 
   

The structure of the Bank’s loan portfolio by industry is presented below: 

 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
 Amount % Amount % 
     
Chemical industry 5 805 912 42 4 822 828 58 
Energy 4 166 363 30 - - 
Metallurgy 2 822 782 20 3 157 246 38 
Food manufacturing 996 150 7 - - 
Repair of machinery and equipment 160 533 1 373 904 4 
Financial  services 5 925 - 5 925 - 
     
     
Total loans to customers 13 957 665 100 8 359 903 100 
     

The table below summarizes carrying values of loans to customers by type of collateral obtained by the Bank: 

 Note 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
    
Loans collateralized by guarantees of    
-the Parent Bank 26 9 786 728 6 683 606 
-third parties  - 978 945 
Loans collateralized by pledge of:    
-goods  996 150 - 
-contractual receivables  1 648 847 323 714 
Unsecured loans  1 525 940 373 638 
    
    
Total loans to customers  13 957 665 8 359 903 
    

 
The table below presents movement in the estimated allowance for credit losses on loans to customers that occurred 
in the interval between the beginning and the end of the annual period. 
 

 

12-month 
expected 

credit losses 

Estimated-life 
expected credit 

losses – impaired 
assets Total 

     
     

Allowance for credit losses at January 1, 2018  - 32 242 32 242 
Net movement in allowance for expected credit losses  4 380 (32 242) (27 862) 
     
     

Allowance for credit losses at December 31, 2018  4 380 - 4 380 
Net movement in allowance for expected credit losses  489 - 489 
     
     
Allowance for credit losses at December 31, 2019  4 869 - 4 869 
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9 Loans to customers (continued) 
For the purpose of estimating expected credit losses as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, all loans granted 
to customers are included in Stage 1. 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Bank provided loans to 4 and 3 borrowers (groups of borrowers) 
for a total of RUB 13 791 207 thousand and RUB 8 353 978 thousand, respectively, the debts of each of which 
exceeded 10% of the Bank's capital. 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the loans granted to customers included accrued interest income in 
the amount of RUB 23 535 thousand and RUB 8 545 thousand, respectively. 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Bank did not have loans granted to customers that were 
considered impaired. 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Bank had all loans to customers not overdue. 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Bank did not have loans, the terms of which were revised due 
to the fact that these loans would otherwise be past due or impaired. 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the maximum credit risk of the Bank for loans to customers 
amounted to RUB 13 952 796 thousand and RUB 8 355 523 thousand, respectively. 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, most of the loans issued were granted to companies operating in 
the Russian Federation, which means that there is a significant concentration of risks in one geographic region. 

Geographical, currency, maturity and interest rate analyses of loans to customers are presented in Note 22. 
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10 Property, equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets 

 
Notes

Right-of-use assets Property and equipment 

Intangible 
assets Total 

Office 
premises Cars Furniture 

Office and 
computer 

equipment 

Inseparable 
improvements 

of the leased 
property 

Net book value as at  
 December 31, 2017  - - 2 663 5 679 20 492 941 29 775 

         

         

Historical cost/indexed 
historical cost  

  
  

 
  

Balance, beginning of the 
year  

- - 
9 194 28 281 55 230 11 352 104 057 

Additions  - - - 271 - - 271 
Disposals  - - - (55) - - (55) 
         
         

Balance as at December 
31, 2018  - - 9 194 28 497 55 230 11 352 104 273 

         

         

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
amortization  

  

  

 

  
Balance, beginning of the 

year  
- - 

6 531 22 602 34 738 10 411 74 282 
Charge for the year 19 - - 1 340 2 680 10 125 231  14 376 
Disposals  - - - (55) - - (55) 
         
         

Balance as at December 
31, 2018  - - 7 871 25 227 44 863 10 642 88 603 

         

Net book value as at  
 December 31, 2018  - - 1 323 3 270 10 367 710 15 670 

         

Historical cost/indexed 
historical cost  

  
  

 
  

Balance, beginning of the 
year  

- - 
9 194 28 497 55 230 11 352 104 273 

Initial recognition 4 242 964 824 - - - - 243 788 
Additions  - 1 142 - - - 344 1 486 
Disposals  - (128) - - - - (128) 
Modifications  (105 273) 347 - -  - (104 926)  
         
         

Balance as at December 
31, 2019  137 691 2 185 9 194 28 497 55 230 11 696 244 493 

         

         

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
amortization  

  

  

 

  
Balance, beginning of the 

year  
- - 

7 871 25 227 44 863 10 642 88 603 
Charge for the year 19 37 379 1 045 1 229 1 918 9 233 217 51 021 
Disposals  - (128) - - - - (128) 
         
         

Balance as at December 
31, 2019  37 379  917  9 100  27 145  54 096  10 859 139 496 

         

         

Net book value as at  
 December 31, 2019  100 312 1 268 94 1 352 1 134 837 104 997 

         

Intangible assets are software and information systems. 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 the carrying amount of the fully depreciated fixed assets and 
intangible assets used by the Bank amounted to RUB 60 761 thousand and RUB 35 688 thousand, respectively. 
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11 Due to banks 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 included in the due to banks is the accrued interest expense, which 
amounted to RUB 7 422 thousand and RUB 7 818 thousand, respectively. 

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 due to banks include RUB 20 457 946 thousand and RUB 
10 574 834 thousand, respectively, received from the Parent Bank, which is 100% and 98.9% of the total amount of 
the due to bank balances, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, the due to banks received from the Parent Bank 
were attracted for the terms “less than 1 month” and “more than 3 years”, the weighted average rates on deposits 
attracted in rubles are 10% per annum, in US dollars 2.1% per annum, in euros 0.1% per annum (December 31, 2018: 
“less than 1 month” and “over 3 years”; 7.2%, 3.2% and absent, respectively). 

Operations for 2019 and 2018 years and balances on accounts as at December 31, 2019 and 2018 with related parties 
are disclosed in Note 26. 

Geographical, currency, maturity and interest rate analyses of due to banks are presented in Note 22. 

12 Customer accounts 

 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
   
Legal entities   
- Term deposits 2 914 782 5 344 412 
- Current/settlement accounts 257 035 601 825 
   
   
Total customer accounts 3 171 817 5 946 237 
   

The following table presents customer accounts broken down by industry: 

 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
 Amount % Amount % 
     
Food industry 1 992 505 63 372 - 
Financial sector 451 360 14 486 647 8 
Transtort 311 487 10 - - 
Construction 214 198 7 231 777 4 
Repair of machinery and equipment 165 683 5 68 838 1 
Chemical industry 4 175 - 23 312 1 
Metallurgy 2 244 - 903 - 
Energy 9 - 147 - 
Telecommunications - - 4 866 566 82 
Advertising - - 244 906 4 
Other 30 156 1 22 769 - 
     
     
Total customer accounts 3 171 817 100 5 946 237 100 
     

As at December 31, 2019, term deposits of legal entities were attracted for a period of less than 1 month and from 6 
to 12 months (December 31, 2018: term deposits of legal entities have a period of less than 1 month). 

Geographical, currency, maturity and interest rate analyses of customer accounts are presented in Note 22. 
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13 Other assets and other liabilities 

 Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
    
Other financial assets    
Funds on stock exchanges  79 300 134 932 
Accrued income for rendered services  768 689 
  
  
Other financial assets before the allowance for credit losses 

deduction 80 068 135 621 
Less: allowance for credit losses (31) (71)
    
    
Total other financial assets less allowance of credit losses  80 037 135 550 
    
Other non-financial assets    
Income tax prepayments  12 975 14 516 
Prepayments and other non-financial assets  19 238 37 197 
    
Total other non-financial assets 32 213 51 713 
    
    
Total other assets  112 250 187 263 
    
    
Other financial liabilities    
Payables for rendered services  9 033 6 733 
Lease liabilities 4 75 680 - 
    
    
Total other financial liabilities  84 713 6 733 
    
    
Other non-financial liabilities    
Settlement with employees on bonuses and other payments  26 51 308 48 656 
Income tax payable  1 486 - 
Tax liabilities, other than income tax  6 812 5 973 
Allowance for credit losses under credit-related commitments 23 2 725 1 720 
Other liabilities  - 225 
    
Total other non-financial liabilities  62 331 56 574 
    
    
Total other liabilities  147 044 63 307 
    

As at December 31, 2019, funds on the stock exchange that are not compensation payments related to trading in 
derivative financial instruments are recorded within cash and cash equivalents. The data as of December 31, 2018 
were not adjusted and contain a balance of a similar nature in the line “Funds on the exchange” in the amount of RUB 
108 464 thousand. 

As at December 31, 2019 RUB 36 688 thousand of lease liabilities are payable during the year. 
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13 Other assets and other liabilities (continued) 

Below is an analysis of movements in the allowance for credit losses on other financial assets during the periods ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
   
   
Allowance for credit losses on other financial assets as at January 1, 2018  322 
Assets written-off against charged allowance  (251) 
   
   
Allowance for credit losses on other financial assets as at December 31, 2018  71 
   
   
Assets written-off against charged allowance  (53) 
Allowance for credit losses  13 
Allowance for credit losses on other financial assets as at December 31, 2019  31 
   

 

The table below presents movement in the estimated allowance for credit losses on credit related commitments that 
occurred in the interval between the beginning and the end of the annual period. 
 

 

12-months 
expected credit 

losses 

Estimated-life 
expected credit 

losses - 
unimpaired 
instruments Total 

     
Allowance for credit losses for credit-related 

commitments as at January 1, 2018 
 

- 653 653 
Net movement in allowance for expected credit losses  1 720 (653) 1 067 
     
     
Allowance for credit losses for credit-related 

commitments as at December 31, 2018 
 

1 720 - 1 720 
Net movement in allowance for expected credit losses  658 347 1 005 
     
     
Allowance for credit losses for credit-related 

commitments as at December 31, 2019 
 

2 378 347 2 725 
     

For the purpose of estimating expected credit losses as at December 31, 2019, credit-related commitments are included 
in Stage 1 and Stage 2 (2018: Stage 1). Allocation of the credit related commitments between the Stages is disclosed 
in the Note 23. 

14 Subordinated loan 

In February 2016, the Bank received and approved by the Bank of Russia a subordinated loan from the Parent Bank 
for inclusion in the capital. The loan was raised in the amount of USD 55 million, which as at December 31, 2019 at 
the rate of the Bank of Russia amounts to RUB 3 456 171 thousand, including accrued interest income in the amount 
of RUB 51 357 thousand (December 31, 2018: RUB 3 881 325 thousand and RUB 60 442 thousand, respectively) for 
a period up to 2025 at a rate of LIBOR + 3.88%. 

In the event of bankruptcy or liquidation of the Bank, repayment of this debt is subordinate to settlement of the Bank’s 
liabilities to all other creditors. 
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15 Share capital 

Share capital authorized, issued and fully paid comprises: 

 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
 

Number of  
shares Par value 

Inflation-
adjusted 
amount 

Number of  
shares Par value 

Inflation-
adjusted 
amount 

       
Ordinary shares 111 618 1 116 180 1 153 089 111 618 1 116 180 1 153 089 
       
       
Total share capital 111 618 1 116 180 1 153 089 111 618 1 116 180 1 153 089 
       

All ordinary shares have a par value of RUB 10 thousand per share. Each share carries one vote. 

16 Retained earnings 

In accordance with Russian legislation, the Bank distributes profits as dividends or transfers profits to fund accounts 
based on financial statements prepared in accordance with RAS. Non-distributable funds are represented by a reserve 
fund created in accordance with the requirements of Russian legislation to cover general banking risks, including 
future losses, other unforeseen risks and contingent liabilities. This fund was created in accordance with the Bank’s 
charter, which provides for its creation for the specified purposes in the amount of not less than 15% of the Bank’s 
share capital reflected in the Bank’s accounting records in accordance with RAS. The amount of annual allocations to 
the reserve fund is 5% of the Bank's net profit in accordance with RAS, until it reaches the minimum established level. 
As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Bank’s reserve fund in accordance with RAS has amounted to RUB 144 439 
thousand and RUB 144 439 thousand, respectively. 
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17 Interest income and expense 

 2019 2018 
   
Interest income on assets recorded at amortized cost comprises:   
Interest on due from banks 209 183 787 285 
Interest on loans to customers 460 381 353 728 
Interest on securities at amortized cost 10 027 - 
   
   
Total interest income on assets recorded at amortized cost 679 591 1 141 013 
   
   
Interest income on assets at fair value through profit or loss - 1 133 
   
   
Total interest income 679 591 1 142 146 
   
   
Interest expense   
Interest expense on financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost (915 754) (723 120) 
   
   
Total interest expense (915 754) (723 120) 
   
   
Interest expense on liabilities recorded at amortized cost comprises   
Interest on due to banks (387 520) (425 076) 
Interest on customer accounts (296 798) (90 222) 
Interest on subordinated loan (225 424) (207 822) 
Interest on lease liabilities (6 012) - 
   
   
Total interest expense on liabilities recorded at amortized cost (915 754) (723 120) 
   
   
Net interest (expenses)/ income before allowance for impairment of interest-

bearing assets (236 163) 419 026 
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18 Fee and commission income and expense 

 2019 2018 
   
Fee and commission income   
Opened letters of credit 123 053 78 352 
Guarantees issued 6 505 3 883 
Currency control 1 911 3 277 
Payment transactions 2 145 2 547 
   
   
Total fee and commission income 133 614 88 059 
   
   
Fee and commission expense   
Guarantees received (73 597) (35 867) 
Payment transactions (755) (604) 
Clearing (6 124) (897) 
Other (555) (273) 
   
   
Total fee and commission expense (81 031) (37 641) 
   
   
Net fee and commission expense 52 583 50 418 
   

19 Payroll and administrative expenses 

 Note 2019 2018 
    
Staff costs  227 737 224 394 
Leases  7 337 47 982 
Professional services  25 862 28 034 
Other taxes, other than income tax  18 286 17 053 
Depreciation and amortization 10 51 021 14 376 
Repairs and maintenance of property and equipment  14 020 14 631 
Business development and business trip expenses  4 165 7 422 
Communications  9 053 7 071 
Insurance  1 713 1 874 
Other  1 501 5 999 
    
    
Total Payroll and administrative expenses  360 695 368 836 
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20 Income tax 

Income tax expense comprises: 

 2019 2018 
   
Current income tax expense (45 832) (182) 
Current income tax expense for previous periods - (24) 
Changes in deferred taxation due to origination and reversal of carryforward/ current 

tax loss (44 314) 87 773 
Changes in deferred taxation due to non-recognition of deferred tax assets on tax losses (9 182) (34 277) 
Changes in deferred taxation due to origination, reversal and non-recognition of 

temporary differences 53 496 (86 580) 
   
   
Income tax expense for the year (45 832) (33 290) 
   

The current income tax rate applicable to the Bank’s profit for 2019 and 2018 is 20%. Below is a comparison of the 
theoretical income tax expense with the actual tax expense. 

 2019 2018 
   
Loss before tax (83 589) (9 650) 
   
   
Theoretical income tax credit at the statutory rate of 20% (2018: 20%) 16 718 1 930 
   
Adjustments for non-taxable income and non-deductible expenses:   
-Non-deductible expenses (10 132) (943) 
Unrecognized tax assets (52 418) (34 277) 
   
   
Income tax expense for the year (45 832) (33 290) 
   

Differences between IFRS and Russian tax legislation give rise to certain temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of certain assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and for income tax purposes.  

It is expected that the tax losses will be fully utilized in future tax periods, however, following prudent approach as at 
December 31, 2019 the Bank did not recornised deferred tax assets on tax losses (2018: RUB 53 496 thousand). Since 
January 2017, changes in tax legislation on the transfer of losses have come into force: the ten-year limit on the transfer 
of losses in previous years is lifted. For the period from January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2020, the tax base cannot 
be reduced by the amount of losses of previous years by more than 50 percent. As at December 31, 2019, the Bank 
had an unrecognized tax asset in the amount of RUB 43 459 thousand (December 31, 2018: RUB 34 277 thousand) 
in respect of unused tax losses for an unlimited period. 
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20 Income tax (continued) 

 
 

 

2017 

Credited / 
(charged) to 

equity accounts 
due to 

application of 
IFRS 9 

Increase / 
(decrease) in 
profit or loss 2018

Increase / 
(decrease) in 
profit or loss 2019 

       
Tax loss - - 87 773 87 773 (44 314) 43 459 
Unrecognized deferred tax asset on tax loss - - (34 277) (34 277) (9 182) (43 459) 
    
    
Deferred tax asset on tax loss - - 53 496 53 496 (53 496) - 
       
       
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences       
Allowance for credit risk on loans and funds provided 

to banks - 135 (71) 64 (61) 3 
Effect of calculation of amortized cost of loans to 

customers 9 175 - 8 556 17 731 (9 151) 8 580 
Allowance for credit risk on loans granted to 

customers - 6 448 (5 572) 876 173 1 049 
Property, equipment and intangible assets 334 - 1 717 2 051 (2 051) - 
Impact of accrued / deferred income / expenses 7 095 - 44 7 139 22 822 29 961 
Impact of the financial result from term transactions 9 765 - (9 765) - 20 149 20 149 
Provision for credit losses under credit commitments - 132 212 344 (102) 242 
    
Total deferred tax assests on temporary 

differences 26 369 6 715 (4 879) 28 205 31 779 59 984 
       
       
Tax effect of taxable temporary differences       
Property, equipment, intangible assets and right-of-

use assets - - - - (16 748) (16 748) 
Impact of the financial result from term transactions - - (81 701) (81 701) 81 701 - 
       
       
Total deferred tax liability on temporary 

differences - - (81 701) (81 701) 64 953 (16 748) 
       
       
Total deferred tax (liability)/ asset, net on 

temporary differences 26 369 6 715 (86 580) (53 496) 96 732  43 236 
Unrecognized deferred tax asset on temporary 

differences - - - - (43 236) (43 236) 
     
     
Deferred tax asset/ (liability) on temporary 

differences 26 369 6 715 (86 580) (53 496) 53 496 - 
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21 Dividends 

In 2019, dividends for 2018 as well as in 2018, dividends for 2017 were neither declared nor paid by the Bank.  

In accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation, only retained earnings that are accumulated in the Bank’s 
statutory financial statement may be distributed as dividends between shareholders of the Bank. For 2019, the retained 
earnings of the Bank amounted to RUB 965 728 thousand (2018: RUB 1 172 945 thousand). At the same time, according 
to the results of 2019, contributions to the reserve fund of the Bank in accordance with the legislation of the Russian 
Federation were not made due to the loss received in 2019. 

22 Financial risk management 

Management of risk is fundamental to the Bank’s business. The main risks inherent in the Bank’s operations include 
financial risks (credit, market, geographical, currency, liquidity and interest rate risks), operational and legal risks. 

The Bank’s risk management activities include identifying, measuring and controlling the above risks and making 
management decisions to avoid or minimize such risks. 

Credit risk 
The Bank is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that one of the parties to a transaction with a financial instrument 
will cause financial losses for the other party due to default on the obligation under the contract. 

The Bank controls the level of its credit risk by determining the maximum amount of risk in relation to one borrower or 
group of borrowers. The maximum level of credit risk of the Bank is reflected in the carrying value of financial assets in 
the statement of financial position. For credit-related commitments, the maximum level of credit risk is equal to the sum 
of liabilities. Credit risk reduction is carried out through collateral and other mechanisms to improve the quality of the 
loan. 

The group of credit risks includes the following key risks: risk of default, risk of concentration (in terms of credit risk), 
counterparty risk in financial markets, residual risk. 

Default risk - the risk of losses associated with the full or partial loss of the value of a financial asset that is not subject 
to daily revaluation at current fair value (for example, a loan, debt security) due to a default or deterioration in the 
credit quality of the counterparty (migration); 

Concentration risk (in terms of credit risk) - risk associated with: 

• the provision of large loans to an individual borrower or a group of related borrowers; 
• concentration of debt by individual sectors of the economy, segments, portfolios, or geographic regions, etc.; 
• implementation of measures to reduce credit risk (use of identical types of collateral, independent guarantees 

provided by one counterparty); 
• a significant amount of investments in instruments of the same type and instruments, the value of which depends 

on changes in general factors. 

Counterparty risk on financial markets – the risk associated with the reluctance or impossibility of the full and timely 
fulfillment of transaction obligations by the counterparty. Counterparty risk refers to the bilateral credit risk of term 
transactions with amounts at risk (exposure), which may change over time as the underlying market factors or the price 
of underlying assets move. 
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

Counterparty risk has two components: 
 

 pre-settlement risk, which is the risk of incurring losses in connection with the possible non-performance of 
obligations under the transaction by the counterparty during the term of the transaction; 

 settlement risk, which is the risk of loss due to the counterparty’s failure to fulfill its obligation after the Bank 
fulfills its obligation under the contract or agreement (by presenting cash, securities and other assets) on the 
settlement date 

Residual risk – is a risk arising from the fact that the methods used by the Bank to reduce the risk may not have the 
expected effect because of the implementation of legal risk or liquidity risk in relation to the accepted security. 

The objectives of credit risk management are: 
 compliance of the level of the Bank’s credit risks with the established risk management, risk appetite (and / 

or other limits and restrictions) and optimization of its level as part of management decisions to ensure the 
sustainable development of the Bank in accordance with macroeconomic parameters and the Bank’s 
development strategy approved by Supervisory Board of the Bank; 

 meeting the requirements of state bodies and regulators in terms of credit risk management; 
 adherence to international standards and best banking practices in the field of credit risk management. 

The Bank’s credit risk management policy is aimed at implementing a systematic approach to managing credit risks, 
optimizing the sectoral, regional and product structure of the Bank’s loan portfolio in order to manage the level of 
credit risks, increasing the Bank’s competitiveness in terms of providing products subject to credit risks through more 
accurate assessment of accepted credit risks and implementation of measures for managing credit risks. 
 
The Bank applies the following basic credit risk management methods: 

• Preventing credit risk by identifying, analyzing and evaluating potential risks at the stage preceding 
operations that are subject to credit risk; 

• planning the level of credit risk by assessing the level of expected losses; 
• introduction of unified risk assessment and identification processes; 
• limiting credit risk by setting limits and / or limiting risk; 
• deal structuring; 
• transaction security management; 
• monitoring and control of the level of credit risk; 
• application of a decision-making authority system; 
• creation of allowance to cover possible losses on loans provided. 

The system for control and monitoring the level of the Bank’s credit risks is implemented on the basis of the principles 
defined by the Bank’s internal regulatory documents that provide preliminary, current and subsequent control of 
operations exposed to credit risk, compliance with the established risk limits, and their timely updating. 

The Bank pays close attention to monitoring the concentration of large credit risks and compliance with the prudential 
requirements of the regulator, analysis and forecast of the level of credit risks. When analyzing, controlling and 
managing the concentration of credit risk, the following steps are used: 

 maintaining a list of groups of related borrowers, based on complex criteria of economic and legal relatedness 
of borrowers; 

 control over the provision of large loans to individual borrowers within the group of related borrowers; 
 control of sectoral and country risk. 
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

The control and limitation of risk, as well as the control of the expected losses of the Bank due to the default of the 
borrower / group of related borrowers are carried out using a limit system functioning for each line of business. The 
amount of the established limit is determined by the risk level of the borrower, which is calculated based on an 
assessment of the financial and non-financial (qualitative) position of the borrower. As non-financial factors, 
indicators of market and external influence, characteristics of management quality, business reputation assessment 
and other factors are used. In order to manage credit risk, a multi-level system of limits has been developed, which is 
used to limit the risk of lending operations. 

In order to calculate the allowance under IFRS 9, the Bank has a system of internal ratings, which is based on economic 
and mathematical models for evaluating the probability of default of counterparties. 
 
The credit rating system provides a differentiated assessment of the likelihood that counterparties fail to fulfill / 
improperly fulfill their obligations based on quantitative (financial) and qualitative analysis (market factors and 
external influence factors, management quality characteristics, business reputation assessment, etc.) the ability of the 
counterparty to service and repay the obligations assumed. 

Internal regulatory documents of the Bank provide for the assessment of a set of factors, the list of which is 
standardized depending on the types of counterparties: risk factors associated with the financial condition of the 
counterparty and its trends, ownership structure, business reputation, credit history, cash flow management system 
and financial risks, information transparency, the position of the client in the industry and the region, the presence of 
support from state authorities real power and parent companies (if the counterparty joins the holding), as well as the 
so-called warning factors. Based on the analysis of these risk factors, the probability of counterparty defaults is 
estimated, followed by their classification by rating. 

One of the tools to reduce the borrower's credit risk is the availability of collateral. To limit credit risk can be taken 
several types of collateral. When issuing loans, the Bank uses the optimal combination of requirements for the level 
of creditworthiness of the borrower and requirements for collateral, which significantly increases the efficiency of the 
credit process. In accordance with the Bank's policy, requirements for the security of a credit product depend on a 
combination of factors determining the level of credit risk and the degree of creditworthiness of the borrower. 

Application of IFRS 9: Credit Risk. Expected credit loss model and basic principles of provisioning. The Bank 
applies the model of expected credit losses for the purpose of provisioning financial debt instruments, the key principle 
of which is the timely reflection of deterioration or improvement in the credit quality of debt financial instruments, 
considering current and forecast information. The volume of expected credit losses recognized as an estimated 
provision for credit losses depends on the degree of deterioration in credit quality since the initial recognition of a 
debt financial instrument. 

Depending on the change in credit quality from the moment of initial recognition, the Bank classifies financial 
instruments to one of the following stages:  

 «12-month expected credit losses» (stage 1) - Debt financial instruments for which no significant increase in 
credit risk was observed, and for which 12-month expected credit losses are calculated.  

 «Expected credit losses over the entire life-time - non-impaired assets» (stage 2) - Debt financial instruments 
with a significant increase in credit risk, but not impaired, for which expected credit losses are calculated 
over the entire life of the financial instrument.  

 «Expected credit losses over the entire life-time - impaired assets» (stage 3) - impaired debt financial 
instruments. 
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

Maximum exposure to credit risk 

The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk depends greatly on individual exposures of borrowers and risks inherent 
in the state of market economy. 

The following table presents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk with respect to financial assets and credit-
related commitments. For financial assets, the maximum exposure to credit risk corresponds to the current value of 
an asset before taking account of any offsets or received collateral. For credit-related commitments, the maximum 
exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount the Bank would have to pay if they were to be called upon by 
counterparties as at December 31, 2019: 

 Maximum 
exposure to credit 

risk Collateral 

Net exposure to 
credit risk after 

collateral 
    
Cash and cash equivalents 1 553 055 - 1 553 055 
Minimum reserve deposits with the Central Bank of the Russian 

Federation 288 302 - 288 302 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and spot 

transactions 15 806 - 15 806 
Financial assets at amortized cost 1 709 360 - 1 709 360 
Due from banks 11 849 728 - 11 849 728 
Loans to customers 13 952 796 (12 430 702) 1 522 094 
Other financial assets 80 037 - 80 037 
Credit-related commitments 9 809 184 (5 609 837) 4 199 347 
    

Provided below is the analysis of the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk of its assets and credit-related 
commitments as at December 31, 2018: 

 Maximum 
exposure to credit 

risk Collateral 

Net exposure to 
credit risk after 

collateral 
    
Cash and cash equivalents 1 157 794 - 1 157 794 
Minimum reserve deposits with the Central Bank of the Russian 

Federation 155 009 - 155 009 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and spot 

transactions 408 509 - 408 509 
Due from banks 12 671 190 - 12 671 190 
Loans to customers 8 355 523 (7 981 885) 373 638 
Other financial assets 135 550 - 135 550 
Credit-related commitments 5 294 484 (3 496 065) 1 798 419 
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

Geographical risk. Geographical analysis of the Bank’s assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2019 is provided 
below: 

 Russian 
Federation 

France Other  Total 

     
Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 1 511 661 15 466 25 928 1 553 055 
Minimum reserve deposits with the Central Bank of the 

Russian Federation 288 302 - - 288 302 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and 

spot transactions 5 868 9 938 - 15 806 
Financial assets at amortized cost 1 709 360 - - 1 709 360 
Due from banks 500 075 11 349 653 - 11 849 728 
Loans to customers 12 658 408 - 1 294 388 13 952 796 
Other financial assets 80 037 - - 80 037 
     
     
Total financial assets 16 753 711 11 375 057 1 320 316 29 449 084 
     
     
Property, equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use 

assets 104 997 - - 104 997 
Other non-financial assets 23 856 121 8 236 32 213 
     
     
Total non-financial assets 128 853 121 8 236 137 210 
     
     
Total assets 16 882 564 11 375 178 1 328 552 29 586 294 
     
     
Liabilities     
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and 

spot transactions - 116 553 - 116 553 
Due to banks - 20 457 946 - 20 457 946  
Customer accounts 2 930 509 213 361 27 947 3 171 817 
Subordinated loan - 3 456 171 - 3 456 171 
Other financial liabilities 4 006 6 558 74 149 84 713 
     
     
Total financial liabilities 2 934 515 24 250 589 102 096 27 287 200 
     
     
Other non-financial liabilities 62 331 - - 62 331 
     
     
Total non-financial liabilities 62 331 - - 62 331 
     
     
Total liabilities 2 996 846 24 250 589 102 096 27 349 531 
     
     
Net balance sheet position 13 885 718 (12 875 411) 1 226 456 2 236 763 
     
     
Off-balance sheet credit-related commitments 

(Note 23) 9 809 184 - - 9 809 184 
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

Geographical analysis of the Bank’s assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2018 is provided below: 

 Russian 
Federation France 

Other  
countries Total 

     
Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 537 694 559 799 60 301 1 157 794  
Minimum reserve deposits with the Central Bank of the 

Russian Federation 155 009 - - 155 009 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and 

spot transactions 407 408 102 - 408 509 
Due from banks 12 671 190 - - 12 671 190 
Loans to customers 6 913 091 - 1 442 432 8 355 523 
Other financial assets 135 550 - - 135 550 
     
     
Total financial assets 20 412 941 967 901 1 502 733 22 883 575 
     
     
Property, equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use 

assets 15 670 - - 15 670 
Other non-financial assets 25 225 183 26 305 51 713 
Deferred income tax asset 53 496 - - 53 496 
     
     
Total non-financial assets 94 391 183 26 305 120 879 
     
     
Total assets 20 507 332 968 084 1 529 038 23 004 454 
     
     
Liabilities     
Due to banks 119 071 10 574 834 - 10 693 905 
Customer accounts 5 695 025 232 642 18 570 5 946 237 
Subordinated loan - 3 881 325 - 3 881 325 
Other financial liabilities 3 377 3 356 - 6 733 
     
     
Total financial liabilities 5 817 473 14 692 157 18 570 20 528 200 
     
     
Other non-financial liabilities 56 574 - - 56 574 
Deferred income tax liability 53 496 - - 53 496 
     
     
Total non-financial liabilities 110 070 - - 110 070 
     
     
Total liabilities 5 927 543 14 692 157 18 570 20 638 270 
     
     
Net balance sheet position 14 579 789 (13 724 073) 1 510 468 2 366 184 
     
     
Off-balance sheet credit-related commitments 

(Note 23) 5 221 754 72 730 - 5 294 484 
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

Assets, liabilities and credit-related commitments are usually classified according to the country of location of the 
counterparty. Cash and property and equipment are classified according to the country of their physical location. 

Market risk 

Market risk is a risk that the value of financial instrument will change due to market price changes regardless of 
whether these changes have been caused by factors specific to an investment or issuer, or by factors affecting all 
outstanding securities. The Bank is exposed to market risks because of general and specific market fluctuations on its 
products. 

The Bank is exposed to market risk related to open positions on currency operations, money market transactions and 
debt instruments. The Bank’s Managing Board manages market risk by setting open position limits for specific 
financial instruments, stop-loss limits, and structural limits. The Bank also uses the “Value-at-Risk” method to control 
market risk exposure. The Value-at-Risk method is used for making quantitative risk assessment for each type of the 
Treasury Department transactions. Value-at-risk is defined as the maximum potential loss during a specific period 
(one day) estimated based on expected changes in the market prices at a set probability level (99%). This statistical 
method allows comparison of market risks across various portfolios and establishing the limit of value-at-risk for 
various types of transactions. The Risk Control Department controls compliance with the limits daily and informs the 
Bank’s management and business units of their use. 

Stock market risk 

Stock market risk is the risk of potential losses due to unfavourable changes in the securities market, including changes 
in the market value of securities, changes in price ratios for various securities or stock indices, and changes in the 
amounts of dividends. 

The Bank manages the stock market risk by means of a system of volume limits to the Bank’s transactions in the stock 
market. The Bank is extremely conservative in its operations with securities and only trades in securities of the leading 
issuers. 

Currency risk  

The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in different exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. 

The Bank’s Managing Board sets limits to assumed risk categorized by currency both at the end of each day and 
within a day, and controls compliance with such limits daily. An analysis of the Bank’s currency risk as at December 
31, 2019 is presented in the table below. The Bank’s assets and liabilities are disclosed at carrying value, categorized 
by currency. Currency derivatives are usually used to minimize the Bank’s risk in case of exchange rate fluctuations.  
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

As at December 31, 2019, the Bank’s foreign currency position was as follows: 

 

 Notes RUB USD EUR Total 
      

Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents  1 248 168 25 926 278 961 1 553 055 
Minimum reserve deposits with the Central Bank of the Russian 

Federation 
 

288 302 - - 288 302 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and spot 

transactions 
 

15 806 - - 15 806 
Financial assets at amortized cost  1 709 360 - - 1 709 360 
Due from banks   998 075 - 10 851 653 11 849 728 
Loans to customers  166 458 7 704 143 6 082 195 13 952 796 
Other financial assets  66 169 - 13 868 80 037 
      
      

Total financial assets  4 492 338 7 730 069 17 226 677 29 449 084 
      
      

Property, equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets  104 997 - - 104 997 
Other non-financial liabilities  31 883 330 - 32 213 
      
      

Total non-financial assets  136 880 330 - 137 210 
      
      

Total assets  4 629 218 7 730 399 17 226 677 29 586 294 
      
      
Liabilities      
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and spot 

transactions 
 

116 553 - - 116 553 
Due to banks  162 320 15 199 928 5 095 698 20 457 946  
Customer accounts  1 434 187 1 727 789 9 841 3 171 817 
Subordinated loan  - 3 456 171 - 3 456 171 
Other financial liabilities  10 564 74 149 - 84 713 
      
      
Total financial liabilities  1 723 624 20 458 037 5 105 539 27 287 200 
      
      
Other non-financial liabilities  62 331 - - 62 331 
      
      
Total non-financial liabilities  62 331 - - 62 331 
      
      
Total liabilities  1 785 955 20 458 037 5 105 539 27 349 531 
      
      
Net balance sheet position  2 843 263 (12 727 638) 12 121 138 2 236 763 
      
      

Net spot, forward and swap position 23 (637 202) 12 672 316(12 120 737) (85 623) 
      
      

Total open position  2 206 061 (55 322) 401 2 151 140 
      
      
Credit-related commitments 23 3 206 683 6 446 069 156 432 9 809 184 
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

As at December 31, 2018, the Bank’s foreign currency foreign currency position was as follows: 

 Notes RUB USD EUR Total 
      
Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents  537 694 60 301 559 799 1 157 794  
Minimum reserve deposits with the Central Bank of the Russian 

Federation 
 

155 009 - - 155 009 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and spot 

transactions 
 

408 509 - - 408 509 
Due from banks   9 667 640 - 3 003 550 12 671 190 
Loans to customers  373 904 7 981 619 - 8 355 523 
Other financial assets  11 194 - 124 356 135 550 
      
      
Total financial assets  11 153 950 8 041 920 3 687 705 22 883 575 
      
      
Property, equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets  15 670 - - 15 670 
Other non-financial assets  51 378 - 335 51 713 
Deferred income tax asset  53 496 - - 53 496 
      
      
Total non-financial assets  120 544 - 335 120 879 
      
      
Total assets  11 274 494 8 041 920 3 688 040 23 004 454 
      
      
Liabilities      
Due to banks  2 631 411 8 062 494 - 10 693 905 
Customer accounts  804 302 4 870 957 270 978 5 946 237 
Subordinated loan  - 3 881 325 - 3 881 325 
Other financial liabilities  3 377 3 356 - 6 733 
      
      
Total financial liabilities  3 439 090 16 818 132 270 978 20 528 200 
      
      
Other non-financial liabilities  56 574 - - 56 574 
Deferred income tax liability  53 496 - - 53 496 
      
      
Total non-financial liabilities  110 070 - - 110 070 
      
      
Total liabilities  3 549 160 16 818 132 270 978 20 638 270 
      
      
Net balance sheet position  7 725 334 (8 776 212) 3 417 062 2 366 184 
      
      
Net spot, forward and swap position 23 (4 911 018) 8 752 424 (3 416 802) 424 604 
      
      
Total open position  2 814 316 (23 788) 260 2 790 788 
      
      
Credit-related commitments 23 759 947 4 534 537 - 5 294 484 
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

The Bank granted loans denominated in foreign currencies. Depending on the borrower’s cash inflows, the growth of 
foreign currency exchange rates against the Russian Rouble may adversely affect the borrower’s repayment ability, 
which, in its turn, increases the likelihood of future loan losses. 

The table below presents changes in the financial performance and equity resulting from potential changes in the 
exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date, taking into account that all other variables remain unchanged as at 
December 31, 2019: 

 2019 
 Effect on profit before tax Effect on equity 
   
Appreciation of USD by 50% (27 661) (22 129) 
Depreciation of USD by 50% 27 661 22 129 
Appreciation of EUR by 50% 201 161 
Depreciation of EUR by 50% (201) (161) 
   

Changes in the financial performance and equity resulting from potential changes in the exchange rates prevailing on 
the reporting date, taking into account that all other variables remain unchanged as at December 31, 2018: 

 2018 
 Effect on profit before tax Effect on equity 
   
Appreciation of USD by 50% (11 894) (9 515) 
Depreciation of USD by 50% 11 894 9 515 
Appreciation of EUR by 50% 130 104 
Depreciation of EUR by 50% (130) (104) 
   

The risk was calculated only for cash balances in currencies other than the Bank’s functional currency. 

Liquidity risk. Liquidity risk arises when maturities of assets and liabilities do not match. The Bank is exposed to the 
risk as it must use the cash resources daily to execute clients’ transactions, redeem deposits, issue loans, redeem 
guarantees and derivatives that involve movement of cash resources. The Bank does not accumulate funds to provide 
for a necessity to meet all the above liabilities simultaneously, as the accumulated operational experience allows for 
forecasting the level of cash required to meet such liabilities with a reasonable degree of certainty. 

The Bank uses the opportunity of raising additional funds and other resources from the sole founder Natixis (France). 
Liquidity risk is therefore not material for the Bank. 

The Managing Board develops and implements the liquidity management policy and ensures that liquidity is managed 
efficiently.  

The Treasury Department and Financial Department control the daily liquidity position and perform regular stress-tests to 
assess liquidity at different scenarios covering standard and less favorable market conditions. 

The Bank calculates mandatory liquidity ratios daily in accordance with the requirements of the Bank of Russia. These ratios 
include: 

 Instant liquidity ratio (N2). As at December 31, 2019 this ratio was 138.18% (2018: 173.67%); 
 Current liquidity ratio (N3). As at December 31, 2019 this ratio was 262.74% (2018: 151.31%); 

 Long-term liquidity ratio (N4). As at December 31, 2019 this ratio was 60.21% (2018: 53.95%). 
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

The table below shows the distribution of liabilities as at 31 December 2019 by remaining contractual maturities (on 
demand or with a maturity date). The amounts in the table represent contractual undiscounted cash flows of all financial 
liabilities. These undiscounted cash flows differ from the amounts recognized in the statement of financial position as 
the balance sheet amounts are based on discounted cash flows. Derivative financial instruments which are estimated on 
a net basis are recognized in the net amount payable. Where amounts payable are not fixed, the amount in the table is 
determined based on the conditions existing as at the reporting date. Currency payments are recalculated using the spot 
exchange rate as at the reporting date. 

The table below presents maturity analysis of the Bank’s financial liabilities as at December 31, 2019: 

 On demand 
and less than 

1 month 
1 to 6  

months 
6 to 12 

months 
1 to 5 
 years 

Over 5  
years Total 

       
Liabilities       
Due to banks 7 545 734 784 537 1 232 579 11 307 570 - 20 870 420 
Customer accounts 2 468 638 709 670 - - - 3 178 308 
Subordinated loan 51 358 52 071 103 576 826 910 3 661 773 4 695 688 
Other financial liabilities 7 619 1 867 37 974 38 825 - 86 285 
Deliverable forward contracts 16 959 117 - - - - 16 959 117 
Credit-related commitments 9 809 184 - - - - 9 809 184 
       

The table below presents maturity analysis of the Bank’s financial liabilities as at December 31, 2018: 

 On demand 
and less than 

1 month 
1 to 6  

months 
6 to 12 

months 
1 to 5 
 years 

Over 5  
years Total 

       
Liabilities       
Due to banks 2 270 446 203 461 598 855 8 375 664 - 11 448 426 
Customer accounts 5 952 714 - - - - 5 952 714 
Subordinated loan 66 826 58 163 195 059 971 038 4 402 513 5 693 599 
Other financial liabilities 3 356 3 377 - - - 6 733 
Deliverable forward contracts 5 215 460 - - - - 5 215 460 
Credit-related commitments 5 294 484 - - - - 5 294 484 
       

Interest rate risk. The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the market interest rates on its financial position 
and cash flows. Such fluctuations may increase the interest margin; however, unexpected changes of interest rates 
may decrease the margin or cause losses. 

The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk mainly because of lending at fixed interest rates in the amounts and for the 
periods which differ from those of borrowings at fixed interest rates. In practice, interest rates are usually set for a 
short period of time. In addition, the interest rates fixed in the contractual terms and conditions regarding assets and 
liabilities are often revised based on mutual agreement in accordance with the current market situation.  

To manage the interest rate, the Bank’s especially dedicated Committee or the Managing Board performs periodic 
assessments of the impact the market environment has on the Bank’s financial performance. The Bank’s policy 
regarding interest rates is subject to the analysis and approval by the Bank’s Managing Board. 
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

The table below provides a general analysis of the Bank’s liquidity risk as at December 31, 2019. The Bank’s financial 
assets and liabilities are recorded at carrying amounts by dates of revision of interest rates under contracts or by 
maturities, depending on which is earlier.  

 On demand 
and less than 

1 month 
1 to 6 

months 
6 to 12 

months 
1 to 5 
 years 

Over 5 
years 

Maturity 
undefined/n
on-interest Total 

        
Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents 1 553 055 - - - - - 1 553 055 
Minimum reserve deposits with 

the Central Bank of the 
Russian Federation - - - - - 288 302 288 302 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss and spot 
transactions 15 806 - - - - - 15 806 

Financial assets at amortized 
cost 505 937 1 203 423 - - - - 1 709 360 

Due from banks  11 849 728 - - - - - 11 849 728 
Loans to customers 8 623 805  5 208 910  45 447 68 709 - 5 925 13 952 796 
Other financial assets - - - - - 80 037 80 037 
        
        
Total financial assets 22 548 331 6 412 333 45 447 68 709 - 374 264 29 449 084 
        
        
Liabilities        
Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss and spot 
transactions 116 553 - - - - - 116 553 

Due to banks 16 133 447 4 209 374 46 050 69 075  - - 20 457 946  
Customer accounts 2 467 067 704 750 - - - - 3 171 817 
Subordinated loan 51 358 3 404 813 - - - - 3 456 171 
Other financial liabilities 7 619 1 833 36 837 38 424 - - 84 713 
        
        
Total financial liabilities 18 776 044 8 320 770 82 887 107 499 - - 27 287 200 
        
        
Liquidity gap 3 772 287 (1 908 437) (37 440) (38 790) - 374 264 2 161 884 
        
        
Cumulative liquidity gap 3 772 287 1 863 850 1 826 410 1 787 620 1 787 620 2 161 884  
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

The table below provides a general analysis of the Bank’s liquidity risk as at December 31, 2018: 

 On demand 
and less than 

1 month 
1 to 6 

months 
6 to 12 

months 
1 to 5 
 years 

Over 5 
years 

Maturity 
undefined/n
on-interest Total 

        
Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents 620 100 - - - - 537 694 1 157 794  
Minimum reserve deposits with 

the Central Bank of the 
Russian Federation - - - - - 155 009 155 009 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss and spot 
transactions 408 509 - - - - - 408 509 

Due from banks  11 177 455 1 493 735 - - - - 12 671 190 
Loans to customers 7 975 694 69 687 67 157 237 060 - 5 925 8 355 523 
Other financial assets - - - - - 135 550 135 550 
        
        
Total financial assets 20 181 758 1 563 422 67 157 237 060 - 834 178 22 883 575 
        
        
Liabilities        
Due to banks 10 314 888 71 792 68 272 238 953 - - 10 693 905 
Customer accounts 5 946 237 - - - - - 5 946 237 
Subordinated loan 60 442 3 820 883 - - - - 3 881 325 
Other financial liabilities 3 905 2 828 - - - - 6 733 
        
        
Total financial liabilities 16 325 472 3 895 503 68 272 238 953 - - 20 528 200 
        
        
Liquidity gap 3 856 286 (2 332 081) (1 115) (1 893) - 834 178 2 355 375 
        
        
Cumulative liquidity gap 3 856 286 1 524 205 1 523 090 1 521 197 1 521 197 2 355 375  
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

The table below presents changes in net profit and equity because of potential changes in the effective interest rates 
applied on the reporting date provided that all other variables remain unchanged: 

 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 
 Interest rate 

increase by 200 
basis points 

Interest rate 
decrease by 200 

basis points 

Interest rate 
increase by 200 

basis points 

Interest rate 
decrease by 200 

basis points 
     
Cash and cash equivalents 667 (667) 9 924 (9 924) 
Due from banks  189 596 (189 596) 202 739 (202 739) 
Loans to customers 223 150 (223 150) 133 594 (133 594) 
     
Customer accounts (327 327) 327 327 (171 102) 171 102 
Due to banks (46 637) 46 637 (85 511) 85 511 
Subordinated loan (55 299) 55 299 (62 101) 62 101 
     
     
Total impact on net profit and equity (15 850) 15 850 27 543 (27 543) 
     

The table below provides an analysis of the effective average interest rates by main currencies for principal monetary 
financial instruments. The analysis was prepared based on the effective interest rates at period end used for interest 
income and expense accruals for appropriate categories of assets/liabilities. 

 31.12.2019  31.12.2018 
 USD RUB EUR USD RUB EUR 
       
Assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 0.4% 0.0% (0.6%) 1.0% - (0.5%) 
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss - 6.1% - - - - 
Due from banks  - 6.4% (0.5%) - 7.7% 0.1% 
Loans to customers 4.8% 12.2% 1.7% 5.6% 11.7% - 
       
Liabilities       
Due to banks 2.1% 10.0% 0.1% 3.2% 7.2% - 
Customer accounts       
- Current/settlement accounts 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
- Term deposits 1.1% 5.7% - 2.7% 6.4% - 
Subordinated loan 6.0% - - 6.3% - - 
       

Operational risk. Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from the absence or inadequate efficiency of internal 
controls, human error, or software failures. The Bank’s authorized personnel monitors, analyses and forecasts 
operational risk events daily and develops and implements measures to minimize operational risk exposure. 

Legal risk. Legal risk may arise from both external and internal factors. External factors include, inter alia, 
imperfection of the legal system and violations by the Bank’s clients and counterparties of the law and contractual 
terms and conditions. Internal factors include failure by the Bank to comply with the legislation of the Russian 
Federation, non-compliance of the Bank’s internal documents with the RF legislation, and inadequate consideration 
by the Bank of legal aspects when developing and implementing new technologies and terms of conducting banking 
operations and other transactions. 
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22 Financial risk management (continued) 

The Bank pays increased attention to legal risk management: 

 All provisions of the Bank’s internal documents and requirements of the RF legislation are strictly observed 
when conducting banking operations and transactions; 

 Changes in the RF legislation are monitored on an ongoing basis and prompt measures are taken to prevent the 
Bank from violating the effective legislation, including through amending the Bank’s internal regulations; 

 Legal risk is assessed for the Bank’s main lines of business. 

The Bank`s Legal Department and Internal Control Service control compliance of documentation for the banking 
operations and other transactions with the RF legislation. 

23 Contingent liabilities and derivative financial instruments 

Litigation. Now of preparing the financial statements, the Bank had no litigations. Also, the Bank’s management is 
not aware of any customer’s intention to file a lawsuit. Accordingly, the Bank’s management did not create any 
provision for losses on potential legal proceedings in the financial statements. 

Tax legislation. The current tax, currency and customs legislation of the Russian Federation is subject to varying 
interpretations and frequent changes that are made quickly and can be applied retrospectively. In this connection, the 
interpretation of such legislation as the Bank's management with respect to the transactions and activity of the Bank 
may be challenged by the relevant regional and federal authorities. Consequently, the tax authorities may challenge 
transactions and the operations of the Bank, which were not challenged in the past. As a result, the relevant authorities 
may charge additional taxes, penalties and interest.  

On January 1, 2015, the Federal law № 376-FZ dated November 24, 2014 came into effect that regulates rules of 
taxation for controlled foreign companies. This law also introduces the concepts of the beneficial owner of income 
and the tax residency of legal entities. The adoption of this law is generally associated with an increase in 
administrative and in some cases tax burden on the Russian taxpayers that have foreign subsidiaries and/or the Russian 
taxpayers performing transactions with foreign companies.  

The introduction of these standards, as well as the interpretation of certain individual provisions of Russian tax 
legislation combined with the latest trends in the law enforcement indicate the potential to increase the amount of 
taxes paid as well as the amount of penalties, also because the tax authorities and courts may be taking a more assertive 
position in their application of the legislation and assessments of the tax calculations. At the same time determining 
their size, as well as the evaluation of the probability of an unfavorable outcome in case of submission of claims of 
the tax authorities are not possible. Tax inspections may cover three calendar years immediately preceding the year of 
the inspection. Under certain conditions previous periods could be subjected to an inspection. 

As of December 31, 2019, the Management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate. 
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23 Contingent liabilities and derivative financial instruments (continued) 

Operating Environment. Emerging markets such as the Russian Federation are subject to different risks than more developed 
markets, including economic, political and social, and legal and legislative risks. The country's economy is particularly 
sensitive to oil and gas prices. As it has already happened before, the estimated or actual financial difficulties of the 
countries with developing economies or an increase in the level of perceived risks of investment in these countries 
may adversely affect the economy and investment climate of the Russian Federation. 
Financial markets are unstable and are characterized by frequent and significant price fluctuations and increased 
trading spreads. During 2019: 

 The exchange rate of the Bank of Russia ranged from 61.7164 to 67.1920 RUB per one US dollar and from 
68.4065 to 77.2105 RUB per one euro; 

 The key rate of the Bank of Russia decreased from 7.75% as of December 31, 2018 to 6.25% per annum as of 
December 2019; 

 On Febuary 7, 2020 the Bank of Russia decreased  the key rate to 6.00%. 

Since December 2019, an outbreak of coronavirus infection (СОVID-2019) has been observed in the world, due to 
which several industries have been temporarily suspended and oil consumption has been reduced, which could have 
a negative impact on the entire global economy as a whole, not only on the industry directly dealing with specific 
countries in which production is suspended. It is difficult to estimate the share of the influence of coronavirus infection 
on the world and Russian economies in which the Bank operates. The Bank regularly analyzes trends in the Russian 
and global economies and evaluates their impact on the Bank's activities with a view to taking timely measures. 

As of March 31, 2020, the agreement between the OPEC + countries, to which the Russian Federation is a party, and 
which provided for restrictions on oil production, ended. Since April 1, 2020, there is no agreement on limiting oil 
production, which led to a sharp decrease in world oil prices in March-April 2020 (on April 21, 2020, the price of 
Brent crude fell to $ 19.16) and negatively affected foreign exchange rates currencies against the ruble in the Russian 
Federation. The US dollar reached a local maximum value of 80.8815 rubles per US dollar (March 24, 2020), and the 
euro rose to 87.2669 rubles per one euro (March 20, 2020). 

To stabilize the economic situation in the Russian Federation and reduce the volatility of the ruble exchange rate, the 
Bank of Russia suspended the purchase of currency on the exchange, began to use the funds of the National Wealth 
Fund for the sale of currency, and also discusses the advisability of raising the key rate. 

In addition to affecting the commodity and financial markets, the outbreak of coronavirus infection affected the operating 
activities of many enterprises, part of the employees were transferred to remote work or on a shorter working day, part 
went on vacation, which leads to a general decline in business activity and may cause a slowdown in economic growth, 
increase in unemployment and inflation. The extent of the negative consequences is currently impossible to assess. 

These events may have a significant impact on the results of operations and the financial position of the Bank in the 
future, and it is currently difficult to predict exactly what this impact will be. The future economic and regulatory situation 
and its impact on the Bank's performance may differ from Management's current expectations. 

In addition, factors such as rising inflation in Russia, reduced liquidity and profitability of companies, as well as increased 
cases of bankruptcy of legal entities may affect the ability of Bank borrowers to repay debts to the Bank. 

From the second half of 2014 Bank operates in conditions of limited sectoral sanctions, imposed by several countries. 
Bank considers sanctions in its activity, constantly monitors and analyzes impact on financial position and financial 
results. 

Although Management believes it is taking all the necessary measures to support financial stability and growth of the 
Bank's business in the current circumstances, unexpected further deterioration of areas described above could 
negatively affect the results and financial position, while it is not possible to determine the degree of such influence 
at present time. 
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23 Contingent liabilities and derivative financial instruments (continued) 

Credit-related commitments. The main purpose of these instruments is to ensure the provision of funds to clients as 
necessary.  

Letters of credit and financial guarantees representing the Bank’s irrevocable liabilities to make payments in the event 
if client fails to fulfill its obligations to third parties, have the same level of credit risk as loans. 

Stated agreements define limits of Bank`s obligations. 

 Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
    
Stage 1:    
Letters of credit  6 447 612 4 535 698 
Issued guarantees  3 282 400 760 506 
    
    
Total credit-related commitments before allowance for credit 

losses deduction 
 

9 730 012 5 296 204 
Less: allowance for 12-months credit losses 13 (2 378) (1 720)
   
Total credit-related commitments Stage 1 after allowance for 
credit losses 

 
9 727 634 5 294 484 

    
    
Stage 2:    
Issued guarantees  81 897 - 
Less: expected credit losses till maturity – non-impared 
instruments 

13 
(347) - 

    
Total credit-related commitments Stage 2 after allowance for 
credit losses 

 
81 550 - 

    
    
Total credit-related commitments 9 809 184 5 294 484 
    

Contractual amounts of off-balance sheet commitments are shown in the table by types of transactions. The amounts 
shown in the table regarding letters of credit represent the maximum amount of the Bank’s loss for financial accounting 
purposes which may be recognized in financial statements if the Bank’s counterparties fail to fulfil their contractual 
obligations. 

Many of these commitments may expire without being fully or partially fulfilled. Therefore, the above commitments 
do not always represent an expected cash outflow. 

As at December 31, 2019, the Bank had received guarantees of RUB 4 240 541 thousand from the Parent Bank (2018: RUB 
2 292 530 thousand) to mitigate the risk associated with credit-related commitments (Note 26). 

The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of credit-related commitments is presented in Note 13. 
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23 Contingent liabilities and derivative financial instruments (continued) 

Derivative financial instruments: forward deals and cross currency and interest rate swaps. The table below 
presents an analysis of contractual or agreed amounts and fair values of forward deals and cross currency and interest 
rate swaps. The table shows the Bank’s position before each counterparty position was offset by categories of financial 
instruments, including contracts with value date after December 31, 2019. These transactions were entered in 
December 2019  and have maturities in January 2020. 

 Contracts with foreign counterparties Contracts with Russian counterparties 
 Contractual 

amount 
Negative fair 

value 
Positive fair 

value 
Contractual 

amount 
Negative fair 

value 
Positive fair 

value 
       
Forward/ spot deals       
Foreign currencies       
- purchase of foreign currency - - - 2 039 648 - 3 241 
- sale of foreign currency 1 402 446 - 9 938 - - - 
- sale of foreign currency for 

currency 12 027 480 (116 553) - 1 398 052 - 2 627 
      
      
Total 13 429 926 (116 553) 9 938 3 437 700 - 5 868 
       

In connection with forward deals the Bank recorded net income of RUB 643 047 thousand in the “Net gain on foreign 
exchange operations” line. 

The position as at December 31, 2018 is shown in the table below: 

 Contracts with foreign counterparties Contracts with Russian counterparties 
 Contractual 

amount 
Negative fair 

value 
Positive fair 

value 
Contractual 

amount 
Negative fair 

value 
Positive fair 

value 
       
Forward/ spot deals       
Foreign currencies    - - - 
- purchase of foreign currency 4 788 179 - 81 546 - - - 
- sale of foreign currency - - - 229 660 - 407 
- sale of foreign currency for 

currency 3 424 029 - 7 228 - - - 
Cross currency and interest rate 

swaps      
- purchase of foreign currency 352 500 - 319 328 - - - 
      
      
Total 8 564 708 - 408 102 229 660 - 407 
       

In connection with forward deals the Bank recorded net income of RUB 1 001 117 thousand in the “Net gain on 
foreign exchange operations” line. 

 



Natixis Bank JSC 
Notes to the financial statements – as at December 31, 2019 and for 2019 year 
(in thousands of Russian Roubles) 
 

66 
 

24 Fair value of financial instruments 

The Bank estimated the fair value of financial instruments using available market information (if any) and proper 
valuation techniques considering unobservable inputs. However, professional judgment is required for interpreting 
market data to estimate the fair value. The economy of the Russian Federation still displays certain features 
characteristic of emerging markets, while the economic environment continues to restrict the volume of activities in 
the financial markets. Market quotations may be outdated or reflect the value of selling at low prices and, therefore, 
not represent fair values of financial instruments. When determining the fair value of financial instruments, the Bank 
uses all available market information. 

Financial instruments at fair value 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (including derivative financial instruments) 
are included in the statement of financial position at fair value. Fair value is estimated based on quoted market prices.  

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost, which is approximately equal to their current fair value. 

Financial assets at an amortized cost  are carried at amortized cost, which is approximately equal to their current fair 
value. 

Due from banks and loans to customers 

The Bank believes that the fair value of due from banks and loans to customers as at December 31, 2019 and December 
31, 2018 differs from their carrying amount only insignificantly. This can be explained by the existing practice of 
reconsidering interest rates to reflect current market conditions, which results in accruing interest on most balances at 
the rates approximating market interest rates. 

Financial liabilities at an amortized cost 

The Bank believes that the fair value of due to banks, customer accounts and the subordinated loan as at December 
31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 differs from their carrying amount only insignificantly. This can be explained by 
the existing practice of reconsidering interest rates to reflect current market conditions, which results in accruing 
interest on most balances at the rates approximating market interest rates. 

The table below presents the fair values and applied techniques of valuation of financial instruments at fair value as 
at December 31, 2019: 

 

Quoted prices in an active 
market (Level 1) 

Valuation techniques based 
on observable market data 

(Level 2) 

Valuation techniques 
incorporating information 

other than observable 
market data (Level 3) 

    
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss - 15 806 - 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 

or loss - 116 553 - 
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24 Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

 

The table below presents the fair values and applied techniques of valuation of financial instruments at fair value as 
at December 31, 2018: 

 

Quoted prices in an active 
market (Level 1) 

Valuation techniques based 
on observable market data 

(Level 2) 

Valuation techniques 
incorporating information 

other than observable 
market data (Level 3) 

    

Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss - 408 509 - 

    

 

The following is an analysis of fair value at the levels of the fair value hierarchy and the book value of assets and 
liabilities that are not recorded at fair value as of December 31, 2019: 

 Fair 
 Value  

(level 1) 

Fair 
 Value  

(level 2) 

Fair 
 Value  

(level 3) 

The book value 

     
Cash and cash equivalents - 1 553 055  - 1 553 055  
Minimum reserve deposits with the 

Central Bank of the Russian Federation - 288 302 - 288 302 
Financial assets at amortized cost - 1 709 360 - 1 709 360 
Due from banks - 11 849 728 - 11 849 728 
Loans to customers - - 13 952 796 13 952 796 
Other financial assets - - 80 037 80 037 
     
     

Total of financial assets as at 
amortized cost - 15 400 445 14 032 833 29 433 278 

     
     

Due to banks - 20 457 946 - 20 457 946 
Customer accounts - 3 171 817 - 3 171 817 
Subordinated loan - - 3 456 171 3 456 171 
Other financial liabilities - - 84 713 84 713 
     
     

Total of financial liabilities as at 
amortized cost - 23 629 763 3 540 884 27 170 647 
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24 Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

 

The table below presents the analysis of fair value at the levels of the fair value hierarchy and the book value of assets 
and liabilities that are not recorded at fair value as of December 31, 2018: 

 Fair 
  Value 

(level 1) 

Fair 
  Value  

(level 2) 

Fair 
  Value  

(level 3) 

The book value 

     
Cash and cash equivalents - 1 157 794  - 1 157 794  
Minimum reserve deposits with the 

Central Bank of the Russian Federation - 155 009 - 155 009 
Due from banks - 12 671 190 - 12 671 190 
Loans to customers - - 8 355 523 8 355 523 
Other financial assets - - 135 550 135 550 
     
     

Total of financial assets as at 
amortized cost - 13 983 993 8 491 073 22 475 066 

     
     

Due to banks - 10 693 905 - 10 693 905 
Customer accounts - 5 946 237 - 5 946 237 
Subordinated loan - - 3 881 325 3 881 325 
Other financial liabilities - - 6 733 6 733 
     
     

Total of financial assets as at 
amortized cost - 16 640 142 3 888 058 20 528 200 

     

 
In 2019 and 2018, there were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy. 
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25 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities 

As of December 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018 there are no financial instruments that should be offset. 

26 Transactions with related parties 

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are related if one party can control or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and operational decisions as defined by IAS 24 "Related Party 
Disclosures". In considering related party relationships, attention is directed to the economic substance of such 
relationships and not merely their legal form. Members of the Managing Board are key management personnel of the 
Bank. 

In the normal course of business, the Bank carries out transactions with the Parent Bank and management.  
These transactions included settlements, issue of loans, raising of deposits, issue of guarantees and foreign currency 
operations. These transactions were priced predominantly at the market rates. The balances at the year end and income 
and expense items, as well as other related party transactions for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as 
follows: 
 31.12.2019  31.12.2018 
 

Parent Bank  

Total category as 
per the financial 

statements 
caption  Parent Bank  

Total category as 
per the financial 

statements 
caption 

        
Cash and cash equivalents 15 466  1 553 055  559 799  1 157 794 

        
Due from banks 11 349 653  11 849 728  -  12 671 190 

        
Due to banks 20 457 946  20 457 946  10 574 834  10 693 905 
        
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss and spot transactions 9 938  15 806  408 102  408 509 
        
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 

or loss and spot transactions 116 553  116 553  -  - 
        
Other liabilities 6 558  147 044  3 356  63 307 
        
Subordinated loan 3 456 171  3 456 171  3 881 325  3 881 325 
        

As at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Bank had received guarantees from the Parent Bank totaling 
RUB 16 469 409 thousand and RUB 9 757 899 thousand, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2019, the Parent Bank was provided with guarantees totaling RUB 2 411 556 thousand (2018: 
RUB 72 730 thousand). 

Settlement with employees on bonuses and other payments (Note 13) includes the following liabilities to members of 
the Managing Board as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018: 

 
 2019 2018 
   

Short-term remuneration  13 898 13 386  
Other Long-term remuneration 3 197 3 133 
   
   

Total Settlements with employees on bonuses and other payments 17 095 16 519 
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26 Transactions with related parties (continued) 

Included in the statement of comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are the following 
amounts which arose due to transactions with related parties: 

 
 2019  2018 
 

Parent Bank  

Total category as 
per the financial 

statements 
caption  Parent Bank  

Total category as 
per the financial 

statements 
caption 

        
Interest income 24 006  679 591  5 621  1 142 146 
Interest expense (563 090)  (915 754)  (628 643)  (723 120) 
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities 

at fair value through profit or loss (35 055)  (35 011)  30 720   46 275 
Fee and commission income 500  133 614  7  88 059 
Fee and commission expense (73 774)  (81 031)  (33 995)  (37 641) 
        

In 2019, the amount of remuneration to the members of the Bank’s Managing Board, including social charges and 
one-time payments, was RUB 53 283 thousand, including long-term remuneration RUB 2 562 thousand, severance pay 
was not paid (2018: RUB 51 234 thousand, including long-term remuneration RUB 2 343 thousand, severance pay was 
not paid). These expenses were included in the line “Staff costs” in the Note 19. 

 

27 Capital management 

The Bank manages its capital to: (i) comply with the capital requirements set by the Central Bank of the Russian 
Federation and (ii) ensure that the Bank continues as a going concern.  

In accordance with effective requirements to capital established by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation, banks 
must maintain the ratio of capital and risk weighted assets (“Ratio of capital N1.0”) not lower than 8% (2018: 8%). 

As at December 31, 2019 the amount of capital the Bank managed was RUB 5 494 114 thousand, Ratio of capital 
36.3% (as at December 31, 2018: RUB 6 302 150 thousand, 42.7% respectively). 

The regulatory capital and its main elements based on the Bank’s reports prepared under Russian legislation are 
presented in the following table: 

 

 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
   
Capital 2 089 300 2 481 267 
Additional capital 3 404 814 3 820 883 
   
   
Total regulatory capital 5 494 114 6 302 150 
   

Compliance with the capital adequacy ratio set by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation is performed on a daily 
basis. The Bank presents the Central Bank of the Russian Federation with monthly reports containing the relevant 
calculations checked and signed by the First Deputy Chairman of the Managing Board and the Deputy Chief 
Accountant of the Bank. 

When determining the total amount of capital required by a credit institution, the Bank uses the standard methodology 
of the Central Bank of the Russian Federation established by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation Instruction 
No. 180-I of June 28, 2017 “On Mandatory Bank Ratios” to assess the adequacy of the Bank’s own funds (capital). 
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27 Capital management (continued) 

The mininum planned (target) levels of Bank’s capital are approved by the Supervisory Board of the Bank in the 
amounts which allow to exceed corresponding obligatory ratios set out in the said instruction: 

 Ratio of base capital of the Bank (ratio N1.1) – not less than by 2.5% 
 Ratio of main capital of the Bank (ratio N1.2) - not less that by 2.5% 
 Ratio of capital of the Bank (ratio N1.0) - not less that by 7% 

The Bank develops capital allocation procedures through a system of limits for areas of activity, types of significant 
risks, and divisions performing functions related to risk taking. 

Planned (target) levels and planned capital structure are approved by the Supervisory Board of the Bank at least once 
a year. A comparison of planned indicators (planned risk values, planned risk structure, planned capital level, planned 
capital structure, planned capital adequacy level) with their actual values is performed monthly. 

During 2019 and 2018 the Bank's complied with all the regulations stated by the Bank of Russia as well as with all 
the external requirements stated for the capital adequacy ratio. 

The Bank’s overall capital risk management policy has remained unchanged from 2018. 
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28 Effect of estimations and assumptions on recognized assets and liabilities 

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions influencing the recognized amounts of assets and liabilities for the next 
financial year. Estimates and judgments are assumed and based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events, occurrence of which is possible under certain circumstances. 

Classification of financial assets. An assessment of business models that relate to assets and an assessment of whether 
contract terms of financial assets include solely the repaying principal and interest on principal, are disclosed in Note 
4. 

Depreciation and amortization. The Bank charges depreciation based on the estimated useful life of fixed assets. 
This estimate is based on the knowledge of the assets of the Bank and guidelines for their use by the Management. 
The estimation of the useful life is reviewed on an annual basis. 

Measurement of the estimated allowance for expected credit losses. Measurement of the estimated allowance for 
expected credit losses for financial assets at amortized cost is an area that requires the use of complex models and 
significant assumptions regarding future economic conditions and credit behavior (for example, the probability of 
default of counterparties and losses arising). Several significant judgments are also required when applying accounting 
requirements to measure expected credit losses, such as: 

• Defining criteria for a significant increase in credit risk; 
• Selection of suitable models and assumptions for measuring expected credit losses; 
• Determining the number and relative weights of possible future scenarios for each type of product / market 

and the corresponding expected credit loss; and 
• Creation of groups of similar financial assets for the purpose of estimating expected credit losses. 

The estimated allowance for credit losses on financial assets is influenced by the row of factors, which are set below: 
• Transfers and corresponding remeasurement of credit loss allowances between Stage 1 (12-month expected 

credit losses) and Stages 2 (Lifetime expected credit losses not credit-impaired) or 3 (Lifetime expected credit 
losses credit-impaired) due to balances experiencing significant increases (or decreases) of credit risk or 
becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent "step up" (or "step down") between 12-month 
and lifetime expected credit losses, as well as net remeasurement of credit loss allowance within the same 
stage; 

• Additional allowances for new originated or purchased financial instruments during the period, as well as 
releases for financial instruments derecognized in the period; 

• Changes to expected credit losses measurement model assumptions and estimates due to changes in 
probabilities of default, exposures at default and losses in case of default in the period, arising from regular 
update of inputs to expected credit losses models; 

• Remeasurement of credit loss allowance to reflect all contractually receivable interest due to the passage of 
time because expected credit losses is measured on a present value basis; 

• Financial assets that were derecognised during the period and write off / restore the estimated allowance 
relating to assets that were written off / restored during the period; 

• Exchange differences on translating foreign operations and assets denominated in foreign currencies and 
other movements. 

 
In assessing expected credit losses, the Bank considers justified and confirmed information about current and 
forecasted future economic conditions. In this regard, the Bank regularly updates risk metrics based on the latest 
available external and internal statistics. 
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28 Effect of estimations and assumptions on recognized assets and liabilities (continued) 

Fair values of derivative financial instruments. Fair values of derivative financial instruments not quoted in active 
markets are determined with usage of valuation techniques. Valuation techniques are periodically tested by qualified staff 
and checked for reflection of fair values of derivative financial instruments with usage of comparable market prices. For 
the purposes of practical application of the model only actual data were used but such risks as credit risk (own and the 
counterparty's), changeability in dynamics and correlation, require the Bank's valuation. Changes in assumptions 
concerning these factors may influence the recognized fair values of derivative financial instruments. 

Determination of the lease term. The Bank leases office premises and vehicles from third parties. The Bank determines 
the lease term without the right to terminate it based on contractual conditions, taking into account the assessment of the 
probability of executing the option to prolong the contracts. As a result, as at Decenber 31, 2019 the lease term for the 
office premises was set at 2.5 years, for cars – from 1 to 2.5 years. 

Recognition of deferred tax assets. Bank recognizes deferred tax assets, if there is a probability to receive taxable profit, 
in relation to which can be used recognized deferred tax assets. Estimation of probability includes assumptions which 
based on Bank expected results. 

Taking into account prudence principle the Management does not recognise deferred tax assets as at December 31, 2019.  

Going concern principle. These financial statements have been prepared based on the going concern principle. Using 
this judgment, the Bank considered the existing intentions, the profitability of the transactions, the available financial 
resources and the effect of the current economic situation on the Bank's activities. 

Management has not revealed other areas, which could make a significant impact on financial statements. 

29 Events after the reporting date 

After the reporting date some events took place in Russia and in the world that could affect the Bank and its operations:  
- spread of coronavirus infection COVID-19; 
- increase in volatility on financial and currency markets; 
- decrease in oil prices and respective decrease in currency rates of Russian Rouble against foreign currencies; 
- slowdown in business activity. 

The Management of the Bank has assessed the potential influence of coronavirus (COVID 19) pandemia on the Bank’s 
activities including effect of the measures taken to smooth consequences and uncertainty. 

The loan portfolio of the Bank contains borrowers who directly or indirectly suffered from changes in oil prices, which 
in its own turn caused weakening of the Russian Rouble currency rate. The Bank regularly monitors its loan portfolio 
and borrowers, conducts stress-testing, restricts preapproved credit limits utilisation or closes previously open limits in 
case of potential problem borrowers are identified. 

The Bank mainly works with large clients or subsidiaries of international / western corporations, which provide strong 
support to their subsidiaries. Almost all major borrowers of the Bank are included in the list of systemically important 
enterprises or systemically important banks that will receive state support. The Bank is reviewing risk appetite and credit 
limits for borrowers who are most exposed to these negative events. 
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29 Events after the reporting date (continued) 

Thanks to conservative credit policy the Management of the Bank does not expect significant decrease in cash flows and 
changes in loans repayment schedules in connection with the negative macroeconomic situation. The Bank of Russia 
also undertakes measures to improve liquility situation in the Russian financial market. Moreover, the Bank has the 
opportunity to attract additional financing from the Parent bank to maintain liquidity. 

The Bank has not eceived applications for loan restructuring and loan maturity changes. 

In the current situation, which is characterized by an extreme degree of uncertainty, the Management does not consider 
possible to reliably determine in monetary terms the influence of the above factors on financial results. The Bank does 
not permit itself a large  open foreign currency position, which limits the size of the potential negative impact of changes 
in foreign exchange rates on the financial result and capital of the Bank, the work of remote access employees reduces 
the cost of maintaining the office, and the Bank also intends to reduce representation and other expenses. 

The Parent bank continues to consider Russia a priority strategic direction of its business and intends to develop and 
support the Bank in these conditions. A negative impact of the current situation on the activities of the Bank is expected, 
which, however, in the opinion of the Management, will not lead to a violation of mandatory standards, will not lead to 
a decrease in the capital adequacy ratio below the minimum acceptable value and will not entail a violation of the principle 
of the Bank's business continuity.  

Currently, the Bank does not plan to introduce new changes to the current Development Strategy. At the same time, in 
2020 the Bank will work on a new Development Strategy for the next term, but a little later than it was originally planned, 
due to the current uncertainty in the markets. Currently, the Bank is taking tactical steps to adapt to new conditions. 

In addition, the Bank in February 2020 sent for approval to the Bank of Russia a draft agreement on amendments to the 
subordinated loan agreement. The changes relate to a decrease of the interest rate and an extension of the term. 
 
 
 
A. N. Valyaev  
First Deputy Chairman of the Managing Board  

April 29, 2020 
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